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is the one who had all three.  Jack had the motive, the opportunity, 

and the plan to either commit, or help participate in the murders of 

Jack Siegel, and Helen Sabraw.  The State wants you to focus, as 

they just explained to you in their closing, on just the two pieces of 

evidence; on the fingerprint, and on the DNA that’s found on the t-

shirt.   

Your Honor has an obligation to look at all of the evidence 

in this case.  And in order make sense of what happened here Your 

Honor has to look at all of the evidence.  And if Your Honor does 

that, the only logical conclusion is that Jack Siegel either committed 

or helped participate in the murders of Wallace Siegel and Helen 

Sabraw.   

Now, it appears that the Defense and the State agree that 

this is not a case where you have a conspiracy, or you have Jack 

conspiring with Gustavo, or Gustavo knowing anybody there at the 

Camlu Apartments.  So if we start with the proposition, that if we 

believe Jack Siegel is the one who’s involved in this murder, we 

cannot also say that Gustavo was involved in this murder.   

In -- in our language of legalese that we use as lawyers, 

we describe this as mutually exclusive.  It’s Jack’s involvement 

automatically means Gustavo could not have been involved in the 

murders of Helen Sabraw and Jack Siegel.  At minimum Judge, if 

Your Honor doesn’t feel that there’s proof beyond our reasonable 

doubt that Jack Siegel committed these murders, the evidence and 

the amount and type of evidence that links Jack to these murders 
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clearly creates a reasonable doubt that Gustavo is the one 

responsible for them.   

Motive, opportunity, and plan, the evidence shows that 

Jack, and only Jack, had all three of those.  Jack had various 

motives to kill his father.  You heard the testimony from Detective 

Chandler, and you heard the testimony from Steve Barhei in this 

case.  And some of the testimony from Jack collaborates this.  He 

came down here in approximately February/March of 1998 to care 

for his dad who had had surgery.   

He came down to care for him, not out of a sense of good 

will, or volunteering to help his dad, the evidence shows that Jack 

was forced to come down here, that he was chosen by his siblings 

to come down here, because he was the only one of all the siblings 

who wasn’t working.   

And I think it’s understandable, to an extent, when you are 

caring for an elderly parent, especially one that’s had surgery, that 

at times you’re going to grow frustrated, you’re going to grow 

stressed out and upset.  And that’s what the evidence shows in this 

case.  Detective Chandler testified that his investigation revealed 

that Jack was angry for caring and taking care of his father during 

those months, leading up to the murder.   

Steve Barhei described Jack as not a happy camper about 

caring for his dad.  And I think some of that is evidenced by the fact 

that overall their testimony that you heard about when dad would 

go to eat dinner, breakfast, and lunch that usually Jack would just 
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drop him off there, sometimes he stayed, most of the time he didn’t 

stay.  He would just drop him off there.  I think that’s a -- a good 

indicator of the status of their relationship leading up to the murder 

of Jack -- excuse me, of Wallace.   

He also had a financial gain in the case.  Now, the 

testimony of Jack numerous times appeared to be covering up 

these motives such as financial gain.  I questioned him about 

knowing his dads finances, what he had in the bank, what he had in 

life insurance, what he had in annuities.  He denied that on the 

stand, but if Your Honor remembers, I impeached him with his 

statements from 1998, where he admitted to the detective who 

questioned him, that he was very familiar with his dads banking 

financial situation, his annuities and his life insurance policy.   

At the time Jack came here, he was unemployed.  That is 

evidenced in the medical records that the State provided and 

submitted into evidence, where his occupation is noted as 

unemployed.  He had a lot to gain from this financial situation of his 

dad having a annuities and life insurance.   

Part of the deception that Jack tried to confuse this court 

with -- or mislead this court with, is he indicated or denied that he 

had made any type of claims right after the murders.  And if Your 

Honor remembers, I impeached him with a document of -- from a 

Zurich Kemper Insurance Company, made out -- that letter was 

made out strictly to Jack, it wasn’t to his siblings, it was strictly to 

Jacks -- and that was within weeks of his dad’s murder that they 

AA 1437



 

Day 6 - Page 152 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

had received his claim to recuperate the money under those 

policies.  Jack, he went so far as to retain an attorney to try to 

obtain that money.   

The issue can turn out to, well what’s the motivation that 

Jack has to murder Helen?  And you heard some of the evidence 

today, that there was in fact a relationship between Helen Sabraw 

and Jack Siegel.  Janet West brought out part of that relationship 

and -- and explained to the Court on the telephone, that they were 

friends, that she would see Helen Sabraw sometimes down on the 

first floor, walking towards the room where Jack -- where Wallace 

lived.   

And then you heard the testimony today of -- of Vivian 

Guy who testified, and has obviously no dog in this fight has no 

incentive to lie or to distort things, that he would see Ms. Helen, as 

she called her, and Wallace Siegel all the time, eating together.  

And that it appeared that they had a relationship, that their 

demeanor was that of being happy, friendly.   

So the State never brought this information out.  We, the 

defense, are the ones who brought this information out, because as 

the Court, I think is aware, and it happens a lot in these situations --

just like when there’s a motive to kill for life insurance policies -- a 

lot of times when there is a child of a parent, who is now an adult, 

and that parent is no longer married and perhaps starts forming a 

relationship with someone else, sometimes those children can 

grow concerned or upset that they might not inherit the money that 
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they think that their intitled to.  So that’s a strong motivation for 

Jack in this case.   

And if you remember Vivian Guy’s description of the 

demeanor, the few times that Jack would actually be there at the 

table during, breakfast, lunch, and dinner, is that the demeanor was 

completely different.  That it was more cold, not as friendly.  So 

there was obviously -- based on that friction between Jack Siegel 

and his dad’s relationship with Helen Sabraw.  More than likely he 

was concerned that if is dad forms another relationship, maybe 

even gets married, that he is not going to get the money that he 

thinks he’s entitled to.   

Alternatively, Judge, there could’ve been something that 

Helen Sabraw saw that caused Jack to kill her.  There’s a lot of 

unknowns in this case, we do know that some of the DNA from Ms. 

Sabraw, was found in the room of Wallace Siegel.  Jack is the one 

who had the opportunity, in this case, to commit both murders.   

The State went to great lengths to show this Court that 

Jack couldn’t have committed these murders, because he was at 

the hospital.  They presented evidence that he was at hospital from 

approximately at 12:50 in the morning, on May 16th to 

approximately 4:00/4:30.  And then from there he went to 

Walgreens to pick a prescription, and from there he went to Carl’s 

Jr. and came back home.   

The State’s argument is, he couldn’t have committed the 

murders because, he has a perfect alibi, we have medical records 
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we have receipt, we have the Carl’s Jr. bag.  Well what they State 

hasn’t provided this Court with information of -- are numerous 

things that destroys the potential alibi defense.  Number one, no 

evidence was presented on exactly when Wallace Siegel and Helen 

Sabraw were murdered.  We don’t even know at this point who was 

murdered first.  We know who was found first, and second, but we 

don’t know who was murdered first or second.   

We don’t know the whereabouts of Helen Sabraw and 

Wallace Siegel leading up on May 16th, Friday, going into the early 

morning -- I’m sorry May 15th going into the early morning of May 

16th.  We don’t have any of that information.  The only thing we 

have is the testimony of Jack Siegel, who claims they were both at 

home and from there he decided to go to the hospital.  Well, to be 

fair, Jack is not necessarily an objective person in this case.  He has 

a motive to lie.  There’s been no corroboration of where Helen 

Sabraw and Wallace Siegel were leading up to the first discovery of 

Wallace Siegel’s body at approximately 5:00 in the morning, on 

May 16th.   

Jack had the opportunity to commit these murders 

because he had been living at the Camlu Apartments for the 

previous three months before the murders.  He knew the other 

tenants, the other tenants knew him.  The staff knew him, he knew 

the staff.  It wouldn’t be at all odd or strange to find Jack walking on 

the first floor, on the second floor, or down in the basement.  It 

wouldn’t be odd at all for Jack to be coming in and out of the front 

AA 1440



 

Day 6 - Page 155 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

door of the building.  This is the opportunity that he had.   

Now, to make all the evidence, and I keep emphasizing all 

of the evidence because the State only wants you to focus on two 

pieces of the evidence.  All of the evidence in this case, can make 

the following scenario more than likely, if not conclusive, of what 

happened in this case.  On the evening of Friday, May 15th, Jack 

stressed out in anger about taking care of his father, perhaps upset 

because he’s -- his father’s now dating another women and he 

might be left out of the inheritance, murders his father in room 120.   

Alternatively, he could’ve killed Helen Sabraw first, we 

don’t know that, but it doesn’t make difference based on the 

evidence that supports this scenario.  Perhaps Helen Sabraw 

witnessed something.  Witnessed a fight -- an argument -- between 

Jack and the -- and his father.  Jack murders both of them, and has 

ample opportunity before midnight to clean himself up, dispose of 

whatever evidence he want to dispose of, get in his father’s car, 

drive to the hospital, establish his alibi at the hospital, establish his 

alibi at Walgreens by getting the receipt for the medication, and 

going to Carl’s Jr., coming home acting shocked and surprised or at 

least a bad attempt to add -- to act shocked and surprised, and 

claimed that someone robbed the place.   

This is not a wild scenario invented by a overzealous 

defense attorney, Judge.  I want to go over the evidence now that 

supports such a scenario.  If Your Honor remembers, the detectives 

that were called in this case, all called by the defense, agreed that 
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there had been no signs found of forced entry.  So no broken 

windows, broken doors, nothing that would indicate entry was 

forced in this case.  In fact, Detective Chandler, indicated they 

couldn’t even determine what was the point of entry in this case.   

We know that the Camlu was a locked facility for 

approximately 7:00 a.m. to about 7:00 or 8:00 p.m..  I think a couple 

of the witnesses, Steve Barhei, Robert Reeder weren’t a hundred 

percent accurate, but the both said ballpark, 7:00 or 8:00.  So 

between 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. you could come and go, but after 

that it was a locked facility.  You had to go in with a key, through 

the front door.   

Now, th -- one of the most shocking things in this case, 

and Your Honor has already heard it and its been admitted into the 

evidence, is the 9-1-1 call that Jack Siegel made in this case.  And if 

it’s not an attempt to set up an alibi or a defense premeditated, I 

don’t know what is.   

A couple of things that I’d like to direct the Court to, things 

he said that -- I -- you just don’t normally say, I wouldn’t think you 

would normally say when you have found for the first time your 

dad potentially murdered.  He makes sure to tell the 9-1-1      

operator -- and there’s actually two on the line, I believe there’s an 

ambulance medical one, and a police 9-1-1 operator on the line, you 

can hear that in the call.   

He says, I just got back from the emergency room, I had to 

go to the emergency room for my knee.  He says, He’s dead, this 
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happened before.  I’ve been gone for four hours.  He then, with -- I 

don’t know how he could come to this conclusion so quickly, tells 

the 9-1-1 operators, no less two times somebody robbed this place.  

He says that twice, somebody robbed this place.   

And that theory got some traction, because you can hear 

the 9-1-1 operator, one of them says, sounds like it’s a robbery and 

the other one -- the other 9-1-1 operator on the line says, yeah, 

that’s terrible.   

He says, they, T-H-E-Y, they bashed him real good.  This is 

not the behavior of someone who has no involvement in a murder 

and comes back home to see in shock and disbelief his father 

murdered.  This is the language and the conduct of someone who’s 

setting up their alibi defense.   

Even his story of having knee pain is highly suspect in this 

case.  There was no evidence presented that before that evening, 

when he wanted to get his knee checked out, that for the three 

months he was there, he had ever had any type of knee pain or 

complaints of knee pain.  He admitted on the stand that he had 

never gone to that hospital before.   

Judge, what a shocking coincidence that the day that he 

decides -- or the early morning he decides to go to the hospital for 

his knee pain, his father is murdered.  That’s beyond coincidence.  

He described on the stand his knee pain as being intolerable.  That 

was the word he used, intolerable.  Yet, Steve Barhei testified that 

when he saw him, shortly after he came back from Carl’s Jr., 

AA 1443



 

Day 6 - Page 158 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

presumably, called 9-1-1.  He said that, Jack wasn’t limping, he 

wasn’t even wearing the knee brace that had been provided to him 

by the hospital.  Steve Barhei described his demeanor as 

nonchalant about his dad’s murder.  He said he was acting 

suspiciously that was his demeanor. 

Jack’s story of leaving the front door unlocked, is also 

suspect.  And I believe it’s part of his plan to have focus drawn to 

somewhere else.  That’s some intruder came in and did this to his 

dad.  Jack went to great pains, initially when he got there, because 

his dad liked to sleep on the sofa seat out front, in the kind of -- 

front area family room right out from the front door, he had this 

kind of intricate cable pull system where if his dad needed any type 

of help or assistance and perhaps no one was there, or no one 

could hear him, from the comfort of that chair, he could pull that 

string.  So there’s no reason for Jack not to lock that door.   

The photos of the counter, where the Carl’s Jr. bag and 

drink are at, you could see there’s two keychains, and -- one of it’s 

the car keys, and there’s two keychains for the front door of the 

apartment for Wallace Siegel.  He could’ve easily locked the door.  

His excuse that he didn’t lock the door because if something 

happened to my dad, then no one could get to him is absurd.  He 

set up the cable pull system, the staff there obviously had their own 

keys, they could’ve entered there, if there was any type of an 

emergency.  This is just another piece of evidence, of all the 

evidence we’re asking the Court to look at, that indicates that Jack 
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either committed or helped participate in the murders.   

Perhaps the most damning evidence of Jack’s guilt in this 

case, is the blood that is found in his father’s car.  The evidence that 

came out before Your Honor, is that since Jack came here, and his 

dad had that surgery approximately February of 1998, that Wally no 

longer drove the car; that Jack is the one who had exclusive 

position of that car.  So from approximately February until his death 

in May, the only one who would be sitting in that front seat, and 

driving, is Jack Siegel.   

Now, Jack admitted that he drove the car to the hospital.  

And if you remember, when the detectives questioned him that 

very day, when they came to investigate the scene, they gave him 

an opportunity to explain.  Just like State was indicating the 

detective gave Gustavo a chance to explain, and his re -- his 

response didn’t make sense.  They gave Jack an opportunity to 

explain, any reason we are going to find blood in your dad’s car?  

No.  He was unequivocal about that no.   

But we know, we know that there was blood, in fact, found 

in two locations of that car.  On the steering wheel of the front    

pass -- the front driver seat, as well as the carpet in the area 

between the passenger front seat, and the drivers’ seat.  And -- the 

devil’s in the details.  This is the interesting point, about the DNA 

that is found -- the blood that is found in the area between the two 

front seats.   

First of all, it came back with a frequency rarer than 1 in 
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1.36 million, as belonging to Wallace Siegel.  Again, no reason for 

Wallace Siegel’s blood to be in there.  His blood is in there.  And 

this the -- this is the detail, it was a mixture.  So someone else’s 

DNA was also mixed in with the blood of Wallace Siegel.  So the 

State can’t get up here and argue, well, maybe he bled one day, 

drop of blood, there was a mixture.  Wallace mixed in with 

somebody else.   

The State, a few minutes ago, went into detail about the 

brutal murders of Wallace Siegel and Helen Sabraw, and they were 

in fact brutal murders.  However, this is further evidence of why 

someone, in this case Jack Siegel, was involved.  And if you 

remember Detective Chandler, specific to Wallace Siegel’s crime 

scene, the way he was murdered, described it as personal.  This is 

not th -- both murders are not a case of someone trying to go in 

there take some money real quickly and then leaving as quickly as 

possible.  This was overkill.  These were personal killings.   

Now we know Gustavo had no relationships with Helen 

Sabraw, no relationships with Jack -- with Wallace Siegel.  So 

there’s no reason for this to be a personal murder, on Gustavo’s 

behalf.  There is though, for Jack Siegel’s behalf.  That makes sense 

that’s what makes all of the evidence in this case make sense. 

Now perhaps we would be in a different position if the 

police had done a more thorough investigation.  And they had 

several things to follow up on that, respectfully, I do not believe 

they adequately did, that more than likely would’ve changed the 
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posture of this case and where we are sitting here today.  

I’ve already discussed with you -- with Your Honor, that 

after questioning Jack Siegel that -- whether there’d be any blood in 

the car, he denied it, they went, found blood.  They never went back 

and requestioned Jack about that -- at that point the most critical 

piece of evidence that they had.  The police never went back to 

question him.   

A few years later, in June of 2000 you heard the testimony 

of Detective Chandler, he had a phone call with Leslee Siegel, the 

sister of Jack and the daughter of Wallace Siegel.  She gave him 

information, which he noted down, contemporaneously with that 

phone call, that drew the attention and the accusation of Jack’s then 

girlfriend, and friends involvement in the murder, of both Wallace 

Siegel and Helen Sabraw.  Leslee gave them the name of Martha 

Morales.   

There was no follow up to try to identify Marth Morales.  If 

the police had done that, they would’ve found out fairly easily that 

that was Jack’s long-term girlfriend.  There was other names given 

that there was no follow up on.   

Now, it could be argued, and the State might get up here 

and say this in rebuttal, that was a wild goose chase.  There’s -- 

that’s just for wild fantasies, there’s no evidence to support that.  

Well, if Your Honor remembers, on the stairway exit door, right 

outside of Wallace Siegel’s room, there was blood and a DNA 

mixture obtained.  And there was a full female profile obtained. 
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Now how relevant is the name Martha Morales with that 

information?   

A few phone calls, perhaps a few trips to wherever Martha 

Morales was living, could’ve gone a long way to get an accurate 

account of what happened in this case.  That DNA profile, the full 

female DNA profile that they obtained in this case has never been 

placed in CODIS; it’s still sitting out there.  Like the blood that was 

found in Wallace’s car, the police did not follow up with Martha, or 

any of the information that she provided about other people that 

she believed was involved.   

She even provided them with information that Jack had 

told her that a person named Ax was involved in the murder of 

Helen Sabraw.  Now, those could’ve been all perhaps false leads 

that Jack was trying to plant.  But at the minimum, it shows his 

consciousness of guilt.  If he didn’t have anything to do with this, if 

he didn’t have a girlfriend or any of his friends that are involved 

this, why would you be making those declarations?  Those types of 

statements?   

A few years after that, in June of 2004, Jack on his own 

accord -- on his own volition -- no one forced him to do this, no one 

gave him the idea, he calls up the detectives, Detective Hardy and 

Mogg and says, Hey, I think someone is trying to frame me for my 

dad’s murder, I want to meet with you; I want provide this 

information that I have.   

Now the -- there was a meeting, none of those documents 
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were obtained, and perhaps that was wild goose chase.  But even if 

you assume that, it’s still consciousness of guilt as to Jack Siegel.  If 

you remember the last thing that Jack asked those detectives, when 

he was finishing up his meeting with them, is how did I come 

across?  Do I come across believable?  That is classic evidence of 

consciousness of guilt.   

The State, through Leslee Siegel, is trying to argue that, 

well Jack’s not all there upstairs, you know, he’s paranoid, he’s this, 

he’s that.  Well, apparently the family didn’t think he was too 

paranoid or too crazy to go care for his elderly -- for their elderly 

father in 1998.  They entrusted him with that heavy and very big 

responsibility, caring for an elderly father, who has had surgery.   

The State’s case can be summed up in the following 

fashion, and Ms. Weckerly indicated this in her opening statement, 

the Defendant is tied forensically to each scene, the DNA found on 

the grey t-shirt, and the palm print found in Mr. Siegel’s room.  

There was no reason for it to be there, therefore, he’s guilty.  That is 

essence the State’s case.   It’s our position, Judge, that there needs 

to be more than that, under the particular facts of this case, and the 

other circumstantial evidence of someone else’s guilt to find 

Gustavo guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.   

Now today you heard the testimony from David Johnson 

and fingerprint analysis.  And you heard Mr. Johnson indicate that 

the science of fingerprint is subjective, that there are guidelines.  

There’s guidelines not only for determining whether a print is AFIS 
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quality but guidelines on when a quote, unquote, match or 

inclusion can be made.  It’s not an exact science.  When something 

is subjective and not able to be validated through error rates, then 

there is cause to be concerned, Judge.   

And I think the most shocking thing that Mr. Johnson said, 

and where I think he loses a lot of credibility is his indication that 

something called confirmation bias, or receiving bias information.  

Is not something that can negatively affect the conclusions of an 

analyst; in fact he said the opposite.  I believe he testified that his 

understanding is that it makes an analyst more cautious.  And I just 

don’t think that passes the commonsense test.   

Whether it’s the field of the fingerprints, whether it’s the 

field of interrogation of suspects of DNA, it’s well established that -- 

what’s called confirmation bias is a danger, and it can affect the 

results of testing, in particular here with the fingerprint.  Mr. 

Johnson did admit he did received information in the request to do 

the comparison of Mr. Ramos’ known prints, with the print that was 

found on the newspaper, with the explanation that there had 

already been a CODIS hit.   

We -- can’t we make the same argument for Joseph Guy?  

Can’t we make the argument that his print is found on the door of a 

murder victim and there is no reason, no explanation why it 

should’ve been there.  We heard his testimony here today.  He 

stayed in the kitchen, every once in a while, he’d go to the assisted 

living side, and drop off trays to the station nurse there, who would 
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then distribute it to the rooms.   

There’s no evidence beyond mere speculation that 

somehow he must’ve walked on the second floor and touched the 

door of Helen Sabraw’s room, and whether it’s weeks, or months 

later, because we don’t know for sure when he stopped working 

there, it popped up when they ran the prints just recently.   

The same argument that the State’s trying to make to find 

Gustavo guilty is the same argument that can be made to make 

Joseph Guy guilty of Helen Sabraw’s murder.  There’s a print, you 

no longer work there, it’s found on the front door of the murder 

victim, and there’s no reason for it to be there; therefore, you are 

guilty of the crime.  And Mr. Joseph Guy is quite lucky -- he’s quite 

lucky that is palm print was found -- or his print on the door was 

found now, and not back in 1998.   

Because if you remember the testimony is that Terry 

Cook, in 1998, found quote, unquote, negroid hairs on Ms. Sabraw, 

on the blanket throughout that room.  So you can only imagine if 

they would’ve found the print back then, on top of the fact that they 

found negroid hairs, he would’ve been immediately arrested for the 

murder of Helen Sabraw.   

Now the reason I bring that up, Judge, is the testimony 

was that the science has advanced, the science is changing, and we 

no longer characterize hair and negroid or white.  And the point I’m 

trying to make is, that is applicable in all scientific fields, and I think 

that’s the point Ms. Maningo was trying to make with Mr. Johnson’ 
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that there’s room for mistakes, there’s room for changes.  The 

problem is here we have the rest of Mr. Gustavo Ramos’ life on the 

line, so this is extremely serious.   

Besides the fingerprint the State is arguing, while there 

was DNA -- a mixture DNA of Gustavo Ramos found on the grey t-

shirts.   

Now there is one thing -- I’m going to interrupt my 

planned closing argument to make this point, because I’m not sure 

if Mr. Pesci misspoke, or he misstated the evidence; he indicated 

initially that the blood on that newspaper, that Gustavo Ramos 

could not be excluded.  Now, the evidence that came out, and I 

know Your Honor’s the final decision maker of what the evidence 

shows and doesn’t show, but the STRmix that was done from that 

sample excluded Gustavo Ramos.  The only two people who were 

included was Helen Sabraw, and Wallace Siegel.   

That’s my memory of the evidence and I just want to point 

that out and make that clear.  I didn’t object that at the time Mr. 

Pesci was making that argument, because he said I’m going to get 

that a little bit later, so I thought the explanation, but I do want to 

make that point clear, the STRmix that was done, excluded, 

excluded, Gustavo Ramos from the blood of that newspaper.   

Now the DNA that was found is a mixture.  There was 

DNA that was found on the neck cuttings and the armpit cuttings.  

On one of them the analyst put a mixture of three people, and one 

of them they indicated at least to potentially three people.  On the 
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samples from that analysis of those particular cuttings that they did.   

Now if Your Honor remembers when Ms. Murga [sic] was 

on the stand, I went into great detail with hypotheticals, on the 

theory of transference when it comes to DNA.  I gave the example 

of Your Honor and I shaking hands, me touching the collar of my 

dress shirt, going home, then swabbing it and the possibility of 

your DNA showing up on the collar of my shirt, even though you 

never touched my shirt.  I also clarified with Ms. Murga [sic], these 

words that are used that I think can be misleading with touch DNA.   

There is no signs to validate that the amount of DNA, 

whether you are a minor contributor, or a major contributor, can 

conclusively or substantially show that you in fact touched that 

object.  Whether it’s another person, whether it’s a t-shirt, whether 

it’s a glass of water.  The science doesn’t allow us to determine 

that.   

So you in fact can be a major contributor of a swab of 

DNA let’s say on a glass, but you never touched that glass.  Perhaps 

you shook someone’s hand, you gave someone a hug, and that 

person transferred it.  So I want to make sure we’re clear that the 

case doesn’t end because the State is claiming that Gustavo’s DNA 

was found in a mixture of three people, especially on a object that 

is so readily a -- movable like a t-shirt.   

The interesting thing about that grey t-shirt is that it fits 

the size of Jack Siegel; it’s a large.  And if you remember the 

clothes that were in the dresser drawers in the bedroom -- of 
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Wallace Siegel’s room, that Jack Siegel was using, he had a white 

tank top, also a large that was his.   

Now, that t-shir -- that Jock -- it was a Jockey name brand 

t-shirt that was found in Jack’s bedroom -- although it’s Wallace’s 

room, Jack was sleeping there -- was tested -- or it was only tested 

one time.  And it was the stains of that white tank top that were 

tested.  They never took any cuttings from the neck area, or from 

the underarm area.   

If you noticed from the large amount of DNA testing that 

they did of the grey t-shirt and white tank top that was found in Ms. 

Sabraw’s room, those objects -- those two items were tested four 

separate times.  One of the times, in 2000, there was no DNA 

obtained.  So it is possible to have an item of evidence that is 

incriminating, yet you don’t find the DNA, especially when it’s only 

tested one time.  The items that the State is resting their case on 

were tested four separate times.   

It’d be interesting to find out if they would’ve taken the 

cuttings from the shoulder straps or the collar area of that white      

t-shirt that was found in Jack’s room, what the evidence would’ve 

show on that.  That wasn’t done.   

If you take a step back, and you look at the State’s theory 

of this case, it doesn’t make sense.  That’s why I keep emphasizing 

for the Court to look at all of the evidence in this case.  The State’s 

theory is that Gustavo went into Wallace Siegel’s room to commit 

theft, or robbery, or a burglary.  In their opening statement they 

AA 1454



 

Day 6 - Page 169 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

indicated that more than likely Wallace was sleeping at the time, 

and Gustavo enters the room.   

Well if the intent is to go in there and steal and to take 

something, and you had your quote, unquote, victim there asleep, 

there’s no point in killing that person.  The evidence in this case 

indicates that if someone did in fact break in to that room, they 

went into the bedroom, retrieved the 25-pound dumbbell, where 

Jack says they were both sitting, and brought it into the family 

room/living room area, and then struck Mr. Wallace Siegel with 

that.   

Yet, if robbery or theft is the motive in this case, what was 

taken?  I know the State indicated that there was an empty money 

clip, but there was no evidence that there ever was money in that 

clip to begin with.  There’s been no evidence that Mr. Siegel -- 

Wallace Siegel’s wallet was taken, there was no evidence presented 

that the gold chain necklace that he was wearing was taken.  IT 

wasn’t because they found it.  A bracelet close to where he was 

found wasn’t taken.  Jars -- bags of coins weren’t taken.  There was 

a safe in the closet that was untouched.   

So if the intent is to commit a robbery, and you’ve 

incapacitated your victim and you have free reign of that room, 

wouldn’t you take a look around and take those things?  The only 

thing that we have slightly indicating that the motive in this case, 

and Wallace Siegel’s case is a robbery or theft, is a empty money 

clip, that’s it.  But, no evidence of money being in there in the first 
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place.   

So if you continue with the State’s theory that Gustavo 

goes in there, kills Mr. Wallace Siegel and -- how does he get -- how 

do you explain how does he get to Helen Sabraw’s room?  We 

know there’s been no evidence presented that he was familiar with 

the place, knew where to go.  He’s 18 years old at the time, 

supposedly he just committed -- if you assume Wallace Siegel was 

killed first, he supposedly just killed a brutal -- just committed a 

brutal murder, and then he’s just roaming the hallways looking for 

another victim?   

Or if you reverse the roles and say, well he may have 

attacked Helen Sabraw first, that’s the same thing.  So he took off a 

supposedly grey t-shirt and a tank top, a grey t-shirt leaves it at the 

scene, and now he’s roaming the hallways shirtless and is checking 

doors?  There’s no relationship -- under the State’s theory, there’s 

no relationship between the two rooms and, and between Helen 

Sabraw and Wallace Siegel.   

Under the Defense theory there is.  What he makes sense 

is that Wallace and Helen knew each other, and that Jack was aware 

of both of them.  Again, as I said before, everyone knew Jack there.  

Him roaming the hallways going to one room or another wouldn’t 

draw the attention that an 18-year-old Hispanic male walking 

around supposedly with bloody clothes, maybe shirtless, there’s -- 

the State is unable to provide the connection between the two.  And 

their case falls apart if you cannot connect those two crime scenes.  
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 This -- so the the State’s theory is he’s in Wallace Siegel’s 

room to commit theft, but he takes off his hat of thief and puts his 

hat of rapist on to go and rape Helen Sabraw.  That’s what the State 

is claiming, is the motivation for going into Helen’s room and 

murdering her.   

Put aside the fact that if he’s a thief in Wallace Siegel’s 

room he’s not interested in the purse of Helen Sabraw that has $533 

cash, jewelry.  In neither room, Judge, in neither room was there 

any evidence that the rooms are ransacked.  That is a clear indicator 

of a robbery or a burglary, neither room was ransacked.   

The State’s argument is that there’s sexual assault in this 

case because of where some items of clothing were found, the fact 

that the clo -- the nightgown that Ms. Sabraw was wearing, when 

they found it was up above her breast area, and that there were 

forensic or anal injuries to Ms. Sabraw.   

Number one, clearly there was a struggle in this case, with 

Ms. Sabraw.  That’s clear.  And when there is a struggle when if not 

one, maybe more than one person is struggling with another, that 

is what happens to clothes, it gets pulled, sometimes it gets 

completely torn off.  That’s what happens when there’s a struggle; 

it’s not necessarily conclusive of as sexual assault.   

Same thing with the underwear, if you saw in the pictures 

that Mr. Pesci put up and that had been admitted to evidence, 

there’s a laundry basket that’s knocked over, and there’s different 

articles of clothing, underwear, shirts, that is spread out in that 
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immediate area where Ms. Sabraw is.  Forensically, there is no 

evidence that a sexual assault was committed.   

What was le -- what was left that of Mr. Pesci’s closing 

argument is that the sexual assault kit was tested twice, once in 

1998, once in 2009.  Cook tested 1998, and Marschner tested in 

2009.  No semen was detected, there were swabs of the anal area, 

there was no DNA foreign to Ms. Sabraw that was detected.   

Now the State’s trying to rest their hat on the testimony of 

Doctor Gavin and her conclusions that based on her review of the 

pictures, there appa -- there appeared to be laceration and 

abrasions.  Number one, Ms. -- Doctor Gavin agreed that in the 

pictures that she saw the body hadn’t been cleaned, which is 

standard typically to do and the fact that it’s not clean, can have an 

impact on what you can find or not find forensically speaking.   

She agreed that the pictures were not of the best quality, 

the pictures that she reviewed.  Most importantly, she’s not a 

sexual assault nurse examiner.  If Your Honor remembers when I 

voir dired her, she admitted the only time she had done any type of 

sexual assault nurse examinations, was when she was in medical 

school, under the supervision of a professor.  That would’ve been 

approximately 20 years ago.   

So she has no experience doing this type of forensic work, 

let alone how the science has changed in the past 20 years.  You 

contrast that with our Defense expert Diana Faugno, who -- who’s 

job is to do just that, sexual assault nurse examinations.  She’s 
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even done, I believe she said, up to ten of them postmortem.  She 

typically testified, she said 80 percent of the time for the 

prosecution, so there’s no indication if she’s bias towards the 

Defense.   

Someone of her expertise said that she could not find any 

lacerations or any abrasions in the anal area of Ms. Sabraw.  She 

even indicated even if you were to assume -- and I think Doctor 

Gavin admitted to this too, even if you were to assume a laceration 

or an abrasion, there are tons of other reasons that could’ve caused 

that besides penetration, whether it’s a penis, a finger, or an object.   

The age, Ms. Sabraw’s age is highly relevant.  Based on 

her age she produces less estrogen, she’s more likely to have 

injuries from wiping, someone with long fingernails, which both 

Nurse Faugno and Doctor Gavin admitted that Ms. Sabraw had 

based on the pictures that they reviewed.  Constipation, things like 

diverticulitis, I believe today by stipulation -- I think the State’s 

sought to obtain -- to admit this before, there is a picture of blood 

on the toilet seat of Ms. Sabraw’s room.  Other indications of 

constipation or diverticulitis.   

The State’s position is that def -- that Mr. Ramos is guilty 

because he’s forensically tied to each of the scenes; to Ms. 

Sabraw’s room and to Mr. Siegel’s room.  But there’s several other 

people who are also tied forensically to those rooms, or areas very 

close to those rooms.  Joseph Guy is tied forensically to Helen 

Sabraw’s room without any reason for his print to be on that door.   
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The second and third profile of whoever is on those grey 

t-shirts are also forensically tied to Helen Sabraw’s room.  The full 

female profile of the DNA found on the doorway immediately to the 

left of Wallace Siegel’s room is also forensically tied to the crime 

scenes in this case.  That is why we can’t automatically assume 

guilt based on pieces of forensics and nothing else.  The Court has 

to consider the entire picture; the motive, the opportunity, the plans 

that people have.   

I know that several instances where the -- the State 

whether through it’s -- through police, detectives failed to follow up 

on items of evidence, the blood in the car, the declarations of Leslee 

Siegel about who she believed based on conversations she 

apparently had with Jack Siegel, who was involved in this case, the 

meeting in June 2004.  And it continues here throughout trial.   

We have the prints of Joseph Guy on the door of Helen 

Sabraw’s room, as far as I can tell, because no evidence was 

presented, there’s been no follow up on that, maybe a DNA swab to 

see if Joseph Guy’s DNA is in any of their items that had been 

tested in this case, where profiles have not been obtained.   

There’s a couple of prints that Ms. Maningo brought to the 

attention of David Johnson in Wallace Siegel’s room that -- again 

going back to reasonable minds can differ and yes, subjectiveness, 

people can have difference of opinions, the prints that were taken -- 

that were run, David Johnson’s was well we don’t this that -- I didn’t  

think that was of AFIS quality’ other analyst weren’t so sure.   
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Jack Siegel is the only person who had the motive, 

opportunity, and plan to commit the murders of Wallace Siegel and 

Helen Sabraw.  All of the evidence of in this case, Judge, even if 

you’re not convinced Jack Siegel was involved, beyond a 

reasonable doubt, or that he conspired with Martha Morales, it at a 

minimum creates reasonable doubt as to the guilt of Gustavo 

Ramos, and that is why we’re here today.   

And that’s one of the reasons why Gustavo agreed to 

entrust this case to Your Honor.  We explained to Mr. Ramos that 

it’s your oath and your ethical duty to follow the law, and there’s 

perhaps no instruction in our criminal justice system as important  

as proof beyond a reasonable doubt.  And I think sometimes -- 

sometimes -- there are juries who do not appreciate that standard 

that we have in our Court system.   

There’s a famous quote, there’s different versions of it, 

but in essence it says, That it’s better for one person, ten people, a 

hundred people who are guilty to go free than it is for one innocent 

person to suffer conviction.   

Some people say it was Ben Franklin, some people say it 

was Blackstone, that’s not the point.  The point is what that 

message is trying to convey; that our standard of proof beyond a 

reasonable doubt is paramount.  And that’s very difficult to do, 

when you have two innocent victims that were murdered in the 

fashion they were in this case.  It’s very difficult to do, when there’s 

family members here day in and day out.  It’s very difficult to put 
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aside emotion, to put aside sympathy.  I think sometimes juries 

have a hard time doing that.  I know Your Honor doesn’t.   

Based on everything I’ve present here to the Court, I am 

respectfully requesting the Court to strictly follow that standard, 

and find Mr. Ramos not guilty of the charges of in this case.   

Thank you, Your Honor.   

MS. WECKERLY:  I just want to make sure to turn on this -- 

THE COURT:  Hit the button. 

MS. WECKERLY:  Yep. 

REBUTTAL CLOSING ARGUMENT 

BY MS. WECKERLY:   

 So I echo Mr. Yanez’s request that the Court decide the 

case based on the evidence and not -- nothing else, not based on 

emotion or speculation.   

And I guess the suggestion, by the Defense in this case is 

that Jack Siegel, the phlebotomist from LA County, somehow killed 

his dad and a neighbor of his father’s and just simply hoped in the 

ensuing ten years when the case was unsolved, that somehow 

there’d be a CODIS hit that implicated another killer, and that 

somehow the person in the CODIS hit would also be implicated in 

the bloody print left to -- left at the scene in his dad’s apartment.  

And Jack Siegel apparently is clever enough to make sure that the 

Metro experts decades later, corroborate each other, in terms of 

identification of who the murder is in this case.   

Mr. Yanez suggested that the State had no theory on what 
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order the -- these murders were committed it.  My theory is this, 

Helen Sabraw’s blood is in Wallace Siegel’s apartment on a piece of 

newspaper that was impounded the day before her body was 

found, so she’s killed first.  There’s movement of the murderer -- it 

connects the two cases.  There’s movement of the murderer, after 

killing Helen, some of her blood, a very small amount, ends up on a 

stain on a piece of newspaper, analyzed by Julie Marschner in 2019 

with STRmix.  None of that was possible years ago it sort of -- this 

case spans the sophistication of forensic science -- of forensic 

science.  But that tells you she is murdered first.   

Let’s talk about the fingerprints just briefly, and then I’ll 

get into the Jack Siegel theory.  It’s undisputed that Mr. Ramos’ 

print is the one in blood on that other piece of newspaper.  Mr. 

Johnson testified before the Court today, he explained the process 

he went through, he drew out the lines, he explained the 

verification process at Metro.  So two people have identified this 

print, in blood, that matches to Gustavo Ramos.   

Now I don’t know how Jack Siegel left -- got that done, 

because I don’t think that there’s any connection between Jack 

Siegel and Gustavo Ramos, but somehow, there’s this print of 

Gustavo Ramos in blood on a piece of newspaper at the feet of 

Wallace Siegel, on a piece of newspaper that was literally from the 

15th in 1998, and the police arrive and discovered him in the 

morning of May 16th, 1998.   

So, there was suggestion that somehow there might be 
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suspicion about the science of fingerprints.  They’re not akin to bite 

marks, they’ve been around for hundreds of years.  And Mr. 

Johnson cited, or explained that the confirmation bias suggestion is 

something that makes examiners, I think he used the word more 

cautious, less likely to make an identification.   

Now, Mr. Yanez and Ms. Maningo may not like that that’s 

what those studies found, but that was the undisputed testimony in 

this case.  And in addition, if their theory of confirmation bias were 

true, how is it that he identifies, in 2019, someone completely 

different and unrelated to the case?  He identifies a former 

employee that he knows nothing about, in 2019 on the outside of a 

door.  That -- if there was confirmation bias, he should be trying to 

identify someone who’s already present in the case.   

So let’s talk about Jack Siegel, the Court saw him testify, 

he’s quite a mastermind.  He comes to Las Vegas and he takes care 

of his dad because, basically his other family members are telling 

him, well you’re the one who’s not employed.  He had some 

medical separation from LA County that he went on and on about.  

And so he’s the one who’s -- who the family is requiring to take care 

of his dad.  There is zero forensic link between Jack Siegel and the 

Sabraw case.  The only forensic link to Jack Siegel and the Wallace 

Siegel murder is the blood in the car, which I’ll get to in just a 

second.   

But Mr. Yanez says there’s access and there’s opportunity 

for Jack Siegel.  Okay, well this isn’t super unique to him, there’s a 
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bunch of employees who work there, every resident has access, 

every employee has access, and we know this complex had many 

doors, there’s no fence around the facility, and it was the type of 

population in that residence where people were coming to visit 

them, because these were elderly individuals.   

And if we look at State’s 190, there were even problems at 

the facility of doors being propped open.  Fort Knox, this is not.  

They had to tell people, hey stop propping the door open, this is a 

security breach, but no, there’s more evidence of how easy it is to 

get into the Camlu Complex.  This is the State’s Exhibit 10, zoom 

back out.  Screens off windows, another way to get into the 

complex.  This is not the most secure place in the whole world.  So 

the access and opportunity argument is pretty much a zero, 

because there’s a bunch of people coming in and out of that place, 

and it isn’t too hard to get in. 

So let’s go to the next thing Mr. Yanez mentioned, which 

is the 9-1-1 tape, where he says essentially that there’s no sign of 

grief in the words of Jack Siegel.  If the Court actually listens to the 

very -- the initial like first ten seconds of Jack Siegel, you can 

actually hear it’s nonverbal, but there’s kind of like an anguished 

sound he makes upon discovering his father.   

And it’s true, he’s kind of -- through the course of the call, 

he kind of goes through different emotions, and he calms down, 

and he’s definitely, I’ll agree, not hysterical at the end.  But he’s kind 

of an eccentric guy.  We’ve all seen him testify, he’s a little different.  
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He’s someone who, when I’m showing him is own medical records, 

is disputing with me for 20 minutes about the fact that they’re 

incomplete.   

He’s someone who challenged, well I arrived at the 

hospital at 12:00, but they didn’t see me until 1:15, so there might 

be an error on this record.  He fixates and doesn’t focus, and has 

trouble following questions.  So how he reacts and how he reacts 

towards stressful situation is not indicative of any type of guilt, 

whatsoever.   

We see this all the time in all types of criminal cases, in 

sexual assault, in murders, in robberies; people react differently to 

violence, people react differently to shock.  And Jack Siegel is no 

different, his reaction you know, is his own reaction.  He’s a -- an 

unusual guy.   

The suggestion, by the Defense Counsel, is that Jack 

Siegel was mad at his caregiving role and so evidently that was 

enough to motivate him to kill his father.  So apparently he gets 

mad enough at having to be the caregiver for his dad that he runs 

upstairs and kills Helen Sabraw first, for reasons unknown.   

And then the other suggestion is well, he maybe did it for 

finical gain.  If finical gain were the only indicator of guilt, anyone 

who inherited any money, including all the Siegel siblings, would 

be potential suspects.  Is it something to look at in an investigation?  

Yes.  Is it dispositive of guilt?  No, you have to look at other factors 

as well.   
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So then the other suggestion is, well Jack Siegel was kind 

of jealous of this supposed relationship between Helen and 

Wallace.  And we heard about that this morning from Vivian Guy.  

She went into detail that they ate lunch and dinners together, they 

would take meals together, and she said this was possible, of 

course, because they didn’t -- because they didn’t have assigned 

seating, and she would often sit with Jack and his son, and Helen 

and see the three of them sitting together.   

But that’s not what Steve Barhei said, and he ran the 

complex and I don’t for a minute suggest that Ms. Guy is purposely 

misleading the Court, I think it’s 20 years later and she doesn’t 

remember how the place was set up.  We know, from admitted 

evidence -- and this is State’s Exhibit 5 and 6 that guess what, there 

was assigned seating.  And look at Helen, she’s here at table -- or 

Row 1, Table 2, and Wallace Siegel is not.  He’s at a totally different 

table.   

Exhibit 6, no overlap of them, in either -- on either day.  So 

maybe she’s remembering someone else, but they certainly weren’t 

sitting together at the same table as she testified to in the terms of 

what she told the Court this morning.   

So let’s go through Mr. Yanez’s hypothesis, and that was I 

guess that Jack’s upset that his father is dating Helen, and so he 

kills his dad for that reason.  And then there was a suggestion that, 

well maybe Helen actually witnessed the murder of Jack and his 

father, and that’s when she ended up being killed herself.   
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Of course, we know Helen was killed first and if she 

witnessed anything it was in her nightgown, because she’s in her 

nightgown.  It has all the stab marks on it, her bed is pulled down, 

like she was in for the night.  So I don’t think she witnessed any 

type of murder.   

And I don’t know how Jack Siegel managed to get the 

Defendant’s DNA and his print in the two different crime scenes, 

within, I guess a certain number of hours at the Camlu complex.   

The next suggestion by Mr. Yanez was well, you can tell 

that this was done by Jack Siegel because this was a brutal killing, 

and it was personal, and actually Detective Chandler wrote that in a 

report.  And those are really archaic, kind of anecdotal things that 

homicide detectives actually used to write in reports, but there’s    

no -- but they’re not definitive of anything.  There are brutal 

murders committed by strangers, and there are brutal murders 

committed amongst people that know each other.   

That type of interpretation of evidence doesn’t tell you 

anything except, perhaps in this case, which is a mismatch of 

physical ability, right?  I mean this is indicative -- the overkill in both 

of these cases’ is indicative of a first-degree murder because it was 

so easy for Gustavo Ramos to inflict all those injuries on Helen 

Sabraw, even though she has defensive injuries, and also on 

Wallace Siegel, even though he has defensive injuries as well.  It is 

not indicative and does not tell us anything about who our 

murderer might be.   
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The next suggestion by Mr. Yanez was that, well, Jack 

Siegel’s family years later made a phone call suggests -- suggesting 

that he might be involved in the murder.  And really that’s to me, 

like an illustration of how families, who experience murder, it’s hard 

on them.  They don’t cope well, there’s blaming that goes on, 

there’s trying to make sense of it, trying to make someone 

responsible.   

And that type of pain and frustration with no closure in 

investigations, it happens a lot and it gets to where people, you 

know, are not their best.  And families who are not the strongest in 

terms of their ability to deal with a tragic event, it -- you know, it 

impacts them worse and their skill set maybe isn’t matched great 

with the challenge that presents them -- presents to them.  But it 

certainly isn’t indi -- an indication of any type of evidence.   

And then most surprisingly, to me, is they -- that the 

Defense suggests that Jack Siegel contacting Metro six years after 

the fact, is somehow indicative of his guilt.  Now if Jack were really 

the killer, he’s been at the point, forensically eliminated as a suspect 

in both cases so he would really have no reason to get on the radar 

of Metro. 

But instead, Jack packs up all his -- all this paperwork 

from LA County and all of this -- all these employment records and 

demands a meeting with Metro detectives, and as Detective Hardy, 

the defense witness said, it really wasn’t indicative of anything, it 

didn’t tell us who the killer was, it was just a bunch of paperwork 
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about his employment and about, like utilities in LA County.  So I 

don’t see how that exactly suggests that Jack Siegel is the one who 

committed the murder, or murders.   

Now, it’s interesting that there’s a discussion at all, in the 

defense, with -- about forensic evidence, because as I mentioned 

Jack Siegel isn’t linked to either murder; certainly not Helen 

Sabraw’s murder.  The only attenuated forensic link to Wallace 

Siegel’s murder is the blood in the car.   

And I’ll put up on the overhead, this is State’s 86.  That’s 

it.  That’s the blood that’s identified to Wallace Siegel.  And if the 

Court looks at the surrounding photographs, 85, 84, 87, this isn’t the 

cleanest car in the whole world, so that amount of blood in a car, 

and I -- I will grant them that I -- I think it’s Wallace Siegel’s blood 

too.  He was diabetic, it was his car, the car is messy, you have -- 

MR. YANEZ:  Judge, I’m going -- 

MS. WECKERLY:  -- no idea where --  

MR. YANEZ:  I’m going to object. 

MS. WECKERLY:  -- it came from. 

MR. YANEZ:  I don’t think there was any evidence of him 

being diabetic.  I think she’s arguing facts that weren’t introduced. 

MS. WECKERLY:  Jack Siegel testified to it. 

THE COURT:  I believe that there was testimony about Mr. 

Siegel, the elder Mr. Siegel, was diabetic because I have that in my 

notes. 

MR. YANEZ:  And I want to make sure we’re not confusing 
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the trial with the evidentiary hearing that we had in this case. 

THE COURT:  Hang on one second. 

Well I’ll tell you what, for right now I’m going to overrule 

the objection.  I don’t think it misstates the evidence, but I’ll keep 

looking through this.  

You can go ahead and continued. 

MS. WECKERLY:  Okay.  

BY MS. WECKERLY:   

Even if he weren’t diabetic, that isn’t the amount of blood 

you would expect someone to have in a car if they got into it 

immediately after bludgeoning their father and Helen Sabraw; that 

is a pretty minute amount of blood and it wouldn’t be inconceivable 

for someone’s DNA -- especially an old -- elderly person who’s had 

surgery, who’s in a wheelchair, to have -- you know -- blood or 

occasionally had some type of injury in the car.   

But, again, as I said, if you look at the other photographs 

of the car, this isn’t the neatest, much like the apartment, this isn’t 

the neatest place in the whole world.  So that -- if that evidence is 

probative, according to Mr. Yanez, that blood, then why isn’t a piece 

of newspaper with both victim’s blood, and the defendant’s print, at 

the feet of Wally Siegel, probative as to who committed the 

murders.  I mean, if forensic evidence matters, then it matters.   

And the second piece of forensic evidence they point to is 

that degraded blood on the stairway, a door, which isn’t inside of 

either apartment, which is unknown female blood.  It’s so 
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attenuated from the crime scene, that Julie Marschner’s testimony 

was it wouldn’t even be eligible to enter into CODIS she didn’t 

think, because it wasn’t connected to the crime scene whatsoever. 

So then this morning, and then, I guess later this 

afternoon, we move on to the sort of secondary theory that okay, 

well maybe it’s not Jack Siegel but what about -- what about 

Joseph Guy?  His prints on the outside of Helen Sabraw’s door, and 

per Mr. Yanez, you know there’s just no reason for it to be there.   

But unlike Joseph Guy, who’s an employee, Gustavo 

Ramos doesn’t work there.  Joseph Guy does; he delivered trays.  

His mother talked about how sometimes trays were delivered to 

Ms. Helen, and so his print being on the outside of a door could be 

a clue, but really isn’t probative as to who the killer is, given the 

other forensic evidence that we have in this case.   

Let’s talk about the sexual assault, Mr. Yanez said there’s 

no forensic evidence of sexual assault, and that’s true, there’s no 

sperm in this case, but there’s medical evidence of sexual assault, 

because Doctor Gavin saw that injury on Helen Sabraw, and there’s 

also evidence at the scene, where I still haven’t heard any 

interpretation how someone’s underwear comes off in a murder if 

there’s not a component of sexual assault.   

The fact that there’s no sperm is really not of any moment 

as to whether or not there was a sexual assault or not.  It could’ve 

been digital, it could’ve been an object that inflicted that injury on 

her.  And the Defense expert, Nurse Faugno, who worked on a 
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couple of -- about ten cases she said in San Diego and never 

testified as an expert, with regards to a deceased victim, her 

testimony should not be weighted more that Doctor Gavin, who is 

currently working with deceased individuals and has looked at the 

pictures and opined that there was an injury inflicted consistent 

with sexual assault.   

In this case, the conjunction or the joining of the -- 

forensic evidence is what -- is essentially what tells you who the 

killer is.  The defendant doesn’t work there, he doesn’t know 

anybody there, he doesn’t know a residence there, he doesn’t 

socialize.  But his print is in Wally Siegel’s blood.  How -- I mean 

how does that happen?  How would that happen on a newspaper 

that had to be from the day before? 

And then his DNA is on a shirt that simultaneously has 

Helen Sabraw’s DNA.  It has little flecks of blood that are consistent 

with when an injury is inflicted, and then it has like a bigger stain of 

blood towards the bottom of the shirt.  How did that occur?  How 

did this happen in two different places where he has, by his own 

explanation, zero, zero connection to.   

He’s not the employee, he’s not the son, he’s the guy that 

lives less than half a mile away.  I mean, that’s remarkable, the 

CODIS hit is to someone who’s not across the United States, not 

someone who would’ve been like 10 years old at the time of the 

crime; the CODIS hit is to a guy who’s 18, who’s less than half a 

mile away, who’s print is found in the simultaneous corresponding 
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murder scene.   

Taken together, the totality of the evidence, there is -- it’s 

inconceivable that anyone other than Gustavo Ramos is the killer.   

THE COURT:  All right. I’m going to go back and sustain 

the objection on the diabetic.  I can’t find it in the notes, so I may 

have read it in my evidentiary hearing notes.  I don’t recall it 

coming up then but I recall it -- having it in my notes somewhere, 

so. 

MR. PESCI:  Judge, if I could, I would direct you to, at least 

Detective Hardy, as I made a note of Detective Hardy that evidence 

coming in.  I thought it was also Jack Siegel’s.  But that would just 

be my request -- 

THE COURT:  Jack Siegel is -- 

MR. PESCI:  -- to look at your notes there. 

THE COURT:  -- the one that I was mainly looking at but I’ll 

but I’ll look at Detective Hardy real quick.  Hold on just a sec. 

THE COURT:  My notes from Detective Hardy indicated on 

cross-examination, the issue came up of whether the victim Wallace 

Siegel was diabetic, and I don’t have a particular note of whether 

the question was did Jack Siegel ever indicate to you that he was 

diabetic.  My notes indicate from Detective Hardy saying not recall.   

So I have to assume the question is asked of him of 

whether or not Jack may have mentioned that to him or if he had 

some knowledge of it and he said he did not recall.  So I’m going to 

leave it as -- I’m going to sustain the objection as to the reference to 
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diabetes of Wallace Siegel. 

All right.  So -- and just so you both know -- or both sides 

know, generally I’m kind of a person during -- when we argue 

motions and whatnot, I’ll have some questions that come into my 

head, and I had questions that came into my head while you were 

arguing, but I didn’t think it was appropriate to ask those questions 

because maintaining the formality of how this would occur in front 

of a jury, I think it’s just my obligation to take in whatever 

information you’re providing, and now give either side any kind of 

benefit or detriment by saying let me ask you questions, and having 

people not be able to respond to that in any fashion.   

Because we’re starting another murder trial tomorrow 

morning, or probably tomorrow afternoon now, it’s going to take 

me some time to go back through all my notes and all the exhibits 

that you all have entered into evidence here.   

I’d like to say that by Wednesday morning I could have a 

decision for you, that’ll have time to go back through and think 

about everything in a way that I would like to.  So I’m going to stay, 

let me put it on the calendar for 9:00 on Wednesday morning.  If I 

feel like tonight and tomorrow night isn’t enough time to have done 

all that around another case, I’ll obviously let you know.   

But I’m fairly comfortable that that should be plenty of 

time to go ahead and do what I think I need to do to evaluate 

everything.  So we’ll continue it over for a decision to Wednesday 

morning at 9:00 am. 
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MS. MANINGO:  Is that before the general calendar? 

THE COURT:  I don’t have a calendar -- 

MS. MANINGO:  On Wednesday. 

THE COURT:  -- on Wednesday; all I have is my trial. 

MS. MANINGO:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  So yes, I’ll probably schedule my trial for 

like 10:00 or something. 

MS. MANINGO:  Okay, thank you. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And you guys do not have any of the 

exhibits with you?  Or do you? 

MS. WECKERLY:  I do, I’m just going to put them back in 

order and -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MS. WECKERLY:  Thank you. 

[Proceeding concluded at 4:11 p.m.] 

* * * * * * * 
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Wednesday, July 3, 2019 

 

[Hearing began at 9:39 a.m.] 

  THE COURT:  All right.  We’ll be back on the record in 

269839.   

   Mr. Ramos is present with the interpreter.  Mr. Yanez is here 

on his behalf.  State’s attorneys are here as well.   

   So your jury has a question.  It’s a funny way to phrase that 

since I’m the jury.  Yesterday or Monday when we were settling 

instructions, I did not notice wearing my judge hat but I noticed wearing 

my jury hat that the Second Amended Information that was filed right 

before trial, and I can’t recall exactly why it was we filed a second.  What 

got cleaned up? 

  MS. WECKERLY:  It took away penetration of a dead human 

being --  

  THE COURT:  Oh, okay.  That’s right.  

  MS. WECKERLY:  -- it was an alternative of the SA. 

  THE COURT:  So anyway, that charged the gentleman with 

open murder, victim 65 years of age or older with use of a deadly 

weapon on each of the two counts.  And then the sexual assault, victim 

65 years of age or older with use of a deadly weapon. 

   The jury instructions and the verdict form are all devoid of any 

reference to age.  And I can’t remember if that something that came up 

during the trial that got removed or there was something statutorily 

because of the age of the case that you abandoned that.  Because at 
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any given time I have over 200 homicide cases in my head that I’m 

keeping track of.  So.   

  MR. PESCI:  So --  

  THE COURT:  Anyway, go ahead.  

  MR. PESCI:  In preparation, we were looking at the statute 

and determined that the victim over 60 did not go into effect until 1999. 

  THE COURT:  Got it.  Okay.  

  MR. PESCI:  So that’s why it it’s not in the verdict form and 

was not argued or utilized. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Did we make a record of that during trial 

or was that something that you all had a discussion of?  Because I 

couldn’t remember any discussion of it and --  

  MS. WECKERLY:  I know we’ve talked --  

  MR. YANEZ:  We discussed --  

  MS. WECKERLY:  Talked about it. 

  MR. YANEZ:  We discussed it. 

  MS. WECKERLY:  I don’t know that we put it on the record.  

  MR. YANEZ:  Right.  

  THE COURT:   But we didn’t file any kind of subsequent 

charging document removing that from the operative one that we went to 

trial on, correct? 

  MR. YANEZ:  That’s correct.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right. 

  MR. PESCI:  But there was discussion with defense counsel.  

  MR. YANEZ:  That’s correct.   
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  THE COURT:  Okay.  Got it.  Thank you very much.  Okay.  

So jury question is answered.    

  All right.  And I am prepared to give you guys a decision this 

morning.  And I appreciate giving me a couple of days to do that since 

we started our other trial yesterday.  But I did have an opportunity both 

Tuesday night after we -- or excuse me, Monday night after we finished 

up and then yesterday after we finished the day of trial at our other case 

to spend a great deal of time, a number of hours reviewing everything in 

the case.   

  And I would say I compliment both sides, obviously.  Every 

time we have issues in our homicide cases with really, really good 

attorneys, there’s a lot of preparation, there’s a lot that goes into the 

presentation, a lot of passion about things and it makes it really good to 

be involved in presiding over these cases dealing with all of you.  So I 

commend you all very much.   

  Much like closing arguments, I don’t think this is a Q&A kind of 

process.  I’m just going to give you a decision. I have a couple of 

comments to make before that but just give you a decision.  I talked to 

some of my colleagues as well about this singular issue.  And I want to 

be clear since I’m the jury that I didn’t discuss the case with them other 

than the singular issue of how to deliver a decision in a nonjury trial.  

  I only had one occasion before to do a nonjury criminal trial 

and I delivered a decision in the same way I am here which is not to go 

into any kind of findings of fact and conclusions of law type thing 

because that’s a deliberative process that a jury engages in and I don’t 
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think that’s appropriate to deliver a verdict here.  Rather, it’s just to 

deliver the overall finding and the overall decision of the jury.  In this 

case, the Court.   

  But I did have an opportunity to go through and review all of 

the exhibits which were introduced, both just reviewing them singularly 

and then reviewing them in conjunction with my notes as to when certain 

things came up during trial and when certain witnesses made reference 

to certain exhibits and how they played into things.  I believe there was 

250 or more exhibits.  I ended up having about 75 plus pages of notes to 

go through as well as the jury instructions but I do feel like I had ample 

opportunity to go through and consider everything.   

  And much like when I did this many years ago in a nonjury 

criminal trial, it’s a really interesting process because it gives you an idea 

of the weight that people in our community feel as jurors when they go 

about having to make these decisions.  Not just as a judge sentencing 

people, but sitting as a juror, essentially, and kind of weighing through 

evidence.   

   And I’m reminded of a conversation that I had not too long ago 

with a juror in one our homicide trials that had remarked that one of the 

more difficult parts of the process was they’re collectively trying to 

remember what the question was that they were trying to answer versus 

the questions they try and answer out of their curiosity.  So that, you 

know, you’ve got this singular question to answer about whether you 

have an abiding conviction of the truth of something -- somebody’s 

charge, and then you have little things that just human nature curiosity 
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tries to answer.  I think we all know that you just can’t answer everything 

in life, whether it’s memory issues, the laws of physics and nature, 

whatever it may be, sometimes there’s things that come up that you 

can’t get answers to.   And sometimes those answers may equate to 

reasonable doubt, sometimes those answers don’t equate to reasonable 

doubt.   

   But the way that she discussed that with me and constantly 

having to pull the jury back to the 30,000-foot view, so to speak, to say 

what’s the totality of what we have here and what does that speak to 

versus what is my curiosity about little things here and how this may 

have ended up going from Point A to Point B, et cetera.  It’s a very -- a 

very interesting process.   

  But overall, after consideration and comparison of everything 

that was provided, all the evidence, all the witness testimony, I think we 

had about 22 total witnesses.  What can be drawn from that evidence?  

What reasonable inferences can be drawn from that evidence?  What 

can be made in consideration of the law that we settled upon to guide 

everything?  I do think that the State has proven the gentleman guilty of 

first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon in terms of the killing of 

Wallace Siegel and that that killing occurred with malice aforethought, 

with premeditation and deliberation willfully, and that it was done during 

the perpetration or attempted perpetration of the felonies of burglary 

and/or robbery. 

  I also believe that the State has proven beyond a reasonable 

doubt the gentleman guilty of the killing of Helen Sabraw with a knife 
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willfully and with malice aforethought and during the perpetration or 

attempted perpetration of burglary and/or robbery and/or sexual assault, 

and that that also was done willfully and with premeditation and 

deliberation.   

    And that the State has proven the gentleman guilty beyond a 

reasonable doubt of the sexual assault of Helen Sabraw by subjecting 

her to anal penetration against her will and without her consent again 

with the use of the knife.  Such that he’s going to be found guilty of first 

degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, a second count of first 

degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, and one count of sexual 

assault with use of a deadly weapon.   

   So in addition to orally making those findings, I went ahead 

and filled out the verdict form, signed off on the verdict form as well, and 

I’ll have that filed with the Court.   

  And then we need to set it for a sentencing date which I would 

set in about 50 days.  I mean, I don’t know if there’s anything that either 

side needs to prepare in anticipation of that that you need a little more 

time.  

  MS. WECKERLY:  None on behalf of the State.  I think that 

the defense wanted it on a Friday which we have no objection to.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. YANEZ:  That’s correct, Judge.  

  THE COURT:  All right.  Fifty days on a Friday would be 

about -- 

  THE CLERK:  August 23rd.  
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  THE COURT:  August? 

  THE CLERK:  21st is that Wednesday.   

  THE COURT:  21st is a Wednesday.  The 23rd I may be gone.  

How about -- let’s go a little longer than that, then.  How about 

September 13th.   

    I don’t know if you all on either side need to talk to family 

members both on behalf of the victims or on behalf of Mr. Ramos who 

wish to come back to court, do you want to see those dates are 

amenable to everybody first?   

  MR. PESCI:  If we can just check really fast, Your Honor.  Is 

the --  

  THE COURT:  Sure.   

  MR. YANEZ:  Is it possible to go one week further?  I’m 

supposed to start a trial on the 9th.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. YANEZ:  So if it’s possible to do the 20th, I’d appreciate it.  

  THE COURT:  Can do the 20th, can do the 6th, whatever works 

best for anybody.  

  MS. WECKERLY:  The 20th is fine.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Then we will set it for the 20th and we’ll 

set it at 10 a.m.  And we’ll refer the matter to the Department of Parole 

and Probation for preparation of a presentence report.   

  And the last thing I would just say, you know, I did not -- when 

I took this case from Judge Togliatti earlier this year after her retirement, 

I specifically didn’t really spend a lot of time since it was going to be a 
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nonjury trial trying to track the history of it.  But what I would say to the 

family members of Mr. Siegel and Ms. Sabraw and to Mr. Ramos and 

the family members, no trial should take nine years to get to trial.  This is 

just a complete failing of the criminal justice system.   

   And I don’t know what occurred.  I know Judge Togliatti didn’t 

get it till late 2017, so what took all that time within that intervening time?  

And I know it’s not you all as attorneys because you all are very good at 

what you do.  But no trial should really take that long.  And I apologize 

on behalf of our court system that it took this long to get this case to this 

point.   

  Okay.  All right, guys, I will see you back in September.  

  MS. WECKERLY:  Thank you. 

  MR. PESCI:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  Thank you.  

 [Hearing concluded at 9:49 a.m.] 

* * * * * * 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:    I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the 

audio/visual recording in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability. 
       

_____________________________ 
      Jill Jacoby 
      Court Recorder 
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Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
 
    Plaintiff, 
 
  -vs- 
 
GUSTAVO RAMOS, 
#1516662  
 
              Defendant. 

 

CASE NO: 

DEPT NO: 

C-10-269839-1 

III 

 
STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO STRIKE PENALTY OF 

LIFE WITHOUT THE POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE 
 
 

DATE OF HEARING:  9/20/19 
TIME OF HEARING:  10:00 AM 

 

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County 

District Attorney, through GIANCARLO PESCI, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby 

submits the attached Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion To Strike 

Penalty of Life Without the Possibility of Parole. 

This Opposition is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the 

attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if 

deemed necessary by this Honorable Court. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

Case Number: C-10-269839-1

Electronically Filed
9/17/2019 12:23 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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STATEMENT OF FACTS  

On May 16, 1998, at approximately 4:52 a.m., 75-year old Wallace Siegel was found 

murdered in unit 120 of the Camlu Retirement Home located at 4255 South Spencer. 

 On May 17, 1998, at approximately 11:10 a.m., 86 year old Helen Sabraw was found 

murdered in unit 212 of the Camlu Retirement Home located at 4255 South Spencer. 

 In May 1998, Wallace Siegel was recovering from hip replacement surgery.  During 

his recovery, his son, Jack Siegel, was staying with him in his apartment at the Camlu 

Retirement Home.  The complex is a dormitory style complex with locked public access doors 

that were designed to prevent access to the individual housing units. 

 Jack left his dad alone late at night on May 15 and into the early morning hours of May 

16, 1998.  Jack left to have his swollen knee drained at a local hospital (which was later verified 

by medical records).  He left the door to his dad’s apartment unlocked.  Upon returning at 4:50 

a.m., Jack saw the dead body of his father – now covered in blood—sitting in a reclining chair 

where Wallace typically slept.  Wallace has massive head trauma.  Jack immediately called 

911. 

 Police personnel found a 25 pound dumbbell on the floor near Wallace.  It was covered 

in blood.  The dumbbell belonged to Jack Siegel.  The “matching” dumbbell was in Jack’s 

room.  An autopsy later revealed that Wallace suffered a skull fracture and died of blunt force 

trauma.  Wallace’s money clip and wallet were empty.  Robbery appeared to be the motive.  

A patent bloody palm print was observed on the Las Vegas Review Journal page found on the 

floor near Wallace’s body.  See Exhibit 1.  Although the print did not belong to Jack, he was 

considered a suspect given his alibi.  Police developed no evidence implicating Jack and the 

case was cold for 12 years. 

 On May 17, 1998, Peggy Parks arrived at unit 212 of the Camlu Retirement Home to 

check on her friend, 86 year old Helen Sabraw.  The door to Helen’s apartment was unlocked.  

Peggy entered the apartment and found her friend lying on the floor.  Helen was covered in 

blood. 

/// 
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 Helen was wearing only a nightgown which was pulled above her breasts.  Her 

underwear were off and found under her head.  Her bra was off and found near her body. There 

was fecal matter on the carpet near her leg. 

 Helen’s apartment was in disarray.  Among other items, was a chair, with apparent 

blood, turned upside down on Helen’s bed.  Helen was stabbed numerous times to her head, 

face, torso, left thigh, and buttock.  Two knives were found near the body.  One under her leg 

and one at the foot of her bed.  An autopsy revealed that she died by stab wounds to her heart 

and pulmonary artery.   

 A man’s grey t-shirt and white muscle shirt were found near Helen. Both had blood 

transfer on them.  Police developed no suspects and the case was cold for 12 years. 

 On June 26, 2009, DNA from the two shirt found in the Sabraw scene was submitted 

for testing.  DNA was recovered from the armpit area of the grey t-shirt and the profile was 

uploaded into CODIS.  CODIS produced a match to Gustavo Ramos.  Thereafter, a search 

warrant was used to get a buccal swab from Ramos and the CODIS results were confirmed.  

The estimated frequency of DNA in the population is rarer than 1 in 30 billion.  Once Ramos 

was identified, his fingerprints were compared to the bloody print found on the Las Vegas 

Review journal page in Wallace Siegel’s apartment.  The examiner concluded that the print 

was consistent with the right palm print of Gustavo Ramos. 

 On May 28, 2019, the trial against the Defendant commenced and on July 3, 2019, this 

Court returned verdicts of guilty of First Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon on 

Count 1 for victim Wallace Siegel and guilty of First Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly 

Weapon on Count 2 for victim Helen Sabraw and guilty of Sexual Assault with Use of a 

Deadly Weapon on Count 3 for victim Helen Sabraw.  On September 10, 2019, the Defendant 

filed the instant Motion to Strike Penalty of Life Without the Possibility of Parole.   

 The State opposes Defendant’s motion. 

ARGUMENT 

 First, Defendant was born on July 10, 1979.  The Defendant murdered Wallace Siegel 

and Helen Sabraw on May 15th and 16th of 1998.  As such, on the 15th day of May in 1998, 
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the Defendant was 18 years, 10 months, and 5 days old at the time of the double homicide and 

sexual assault.  Nonetheless, Defendant’s general contention is that the line distinguishing 

adults from juveniles, set at the age of eighteen, is arbitrary and violates not only the Equal 

Protection Clause, but also violates substantive and procedural due process as well as the 

Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment.  In his motion, Defendant 

makes a series of policy arguments best suited for the Legislature, which likewise fail.  The 

fact remains: Defendant was not a minor when he committed the instant crimes.  As such, the 

rationale of treating juvenile defendants differently from adult offenders simply does not apply 

to Defendant, who was over eighteen when he committed his crimes.   

Despite this, Defendant cites to several United States Supreme Court cases, such as 

Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S. Ct. 1183 (2005) (finding the Eighth Amendment 

forbids the imposition of the death penalty on juveniles under the age of eighteen), Graham v. 

Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011 (2010) (holding the Eighth Amendment bars the 

imposition of life without possibility of parole sentences for juveniles under the age of 

eighteen for non-homicide crimes), and Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455 

(2012) (finding the Eighth Amendment bars the imposition of mandatory life without 

possibility of parole sentences for juvenile offenders under the age of eighteen for homicide 

convictions), to argue that his sentence is cruel and unusual and he should be treated like 

juvenile defendants sentenced to life without the possibility of parole.  Since Defendant was 

not a juvenile at the time of his crimes, the rationale of these cases simply does not apply to 

him for Eighth Amendment purposes. 

Specifically, in Roper v Simmons, the Supreme Court found that the death penalty 

conviction of a seventeen-year old, juvenile defendant who had planned, discussed, and 

committed murder, was unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment of the United States 

Constitution.  The Supreme Court, taking into account the fact that a majority of States have 

rejected the imposition of the death penalty on juvenile offenders under the age of eighteen, 

held that: 
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Drawing the line at 18 years of age is subject, of course, to the objections always 

raised against categorical rules. The qualities that distinguish juveniles from 

adults do not disappear when an individual turns 18. By the same token, some 

under 18 have already attained a level of maturity some adults will never reach. 

For the reasons we have discussed, however, a line must be drawn.  . . . .  The 

age of 18 is the point where society draws the line for many purposes between 

childhood and adulthood. It is, we conclude, the age at which the line for death 

eligibility ought to rest.  432 U.S. at 574, 125 S. Ct. at 1197-98. 
   
 

The Supreme Court thus drew a clear line at the age of eighteen, prohibiting juvenile 

defendants from being sentenced to the death penalty for crimes committed while they were 

under the age of eighteen.  In reaching its holding, the Supreme Court examined national and 

international consensus, recognizing that a majority of American states, as well as a majority 

of countries, barred the imposition of the death penalty on offenders under eighteen.  Id. at 

575-76, 575-80, 125 S. Ct. at 1198-99, 1200-01.  The Court also examined other areas wherein 

society “draws the line . . . between childhood and adulthood,” such as the minimum age to 

vote, to serve on a jury, or to marry without parental consent.  Id. at 580-86, 125 S. Ct.  

 In Graham v. Florida, the Supreme Court examined the validity of life-without-parole 

sentences for juvenile offenders having committed non-homicide offenses.  In that case, the 

defendant, at 16, attempted to rob a restaurant, and Graham’s accomplice struck the restaurant 

manager with a metal bar.  While the manager yelled at them, Graham and the assailant ran 

out and escaped in a car driven by the third accomplice. Graham was charged as an adult with 

armed burglary with assault or battery, carrying a life without parole maximum, and attempted 

armed robbery.  Graham pleaded guilty and got probation.  Six months later, Graham was 

charged with home invasion robbery.  After being revoked from probation on his first case, 

Graham then received a sentence of life without parole.  The Court examined the national 

consensus, and determined that there were only eleven jurisdictions that actually imposed life 

without parole sentences to nonhomicide juvenile offenders, while twenty-six states – despite 

having statutory authorization – refused to impose life without parole sentences for juveniles.  

The Court then held that life without parole sentences for juvenile offenders was 

unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment.  Again, the Supreme Court held that: 
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[I]n cases turning on the characteristics of the offender, the Court has adopted 

categorical rules prohibiting the death penalty for defendants who committed 

their crimes before the age of 18, Roper v. Simmons [citation omitted], or whose 

intellectual functioning is in a low range, Atkins v Virginia, 536 U.S. 551, 125 

S. Ct. 1183 (2002).  See also Thompson v Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 815, 108 S. Ct. 

2687 (1998).  In the cases adopting categorical rules the Court has taken the 

following approach. The Court first considers “objective indicia of society's 

standards, as expressed in legislative enactments and state practice,” to 

determine whether there is a national consensus against the sentencing practice 

at issue. Roper, supra, at 563, 125 S. Ct. 1183. Next, guided by “the standards 

elaborated by controlling precedents and by the Court's own understanding and 

interpretation of the Eighth Amendment's text, history, meaning, and purpose, 

Kennedy [v. Louisiana], 554 U.S. [407,] 421, 128 S. Ct. 2641, 2650 [2008], the 

Court must determine in the exercise of its own independent judgment whether 

the punishment in question violates the Constitution.  Roper, supra, at 564, 125 

S. Ct. 1183. Graham, 560 U.S. at 61, 130 S. Ct. at 2022 (emphasis added).  In 

determining the national consensus, the Court looks to the legislation enacted by 

the country’s legislatures, as well as to actual sentencing practices.  Id. at 62, 

130 S. Ct. at 2023.   

The Court in Graham also referred to amici brief and noted that the parts of adolescents’ 

brains involved in behavior control continue to mature through late adolescence – which is the 

central issue argued in Defendant’s motion.  Even considering the national consensus, the 

Graham Court again emphasized that a clear line was required to distinguish between children 

and adults, and that society drew the line at eighteen. 560 U.S. at 74-76, 130 S. Ct. at 2030. 

Despite Defendant’s current contentions, it is still a fact that eighteen remains the minimum 

age requirement for an individual to vote, have jury service, get married or serve in the military 

without parental consent, or, as the Supreme Court has held, be considered an adult in the 

criminal justice system.  Moreover, the Nevada Legislature did have the opportunity to 

consider Roper, Graham, and Miller when, in 2015, it statutorily implemented NRS 176.017, 

176.025, and NRS 213.12135.   However, the Nevada Legislature chose not to expand the 

protections of these statutes to those over the age of eighteen. 

In Miller v. Alabama, the Supreme Court struck down mandatory life without parole 

sentences for juveniles convicted of homicide offenses, and required sentencing judges to 

consider certain mitigating factors of youth, including the diminished culpability of juveniles 

relative to adults.  In Miller, two 14-year olds (Kuntrell Jackson and Evan Miller) were found 
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guilty of murder by a jury and given a mandatory sentence of life without the possibility of 

parole according to Alabama law.  Taking issue with the mandatory life without parole 

sentencing scheme, the Supreme Court found the mandatory scheme violative of the Eighth 

Amendment, and held that a sentencing court must consider an offender’s youth and attendant 

characteristics before imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile.  567 U.S. at 483, 

132 S. Ct. at 2471.  The Supreme Court, however, did not prohibit the imposition of a life 

without parole sentence on a juvenile – it merely required the sentence to consider the 

offender’s age and attendant circumstances.  Id.   

All three cases upon which Defendant relies refer to minors under the age of eighteen, 

and Defendant was over the age of eighteen at the time of his crimes.  As such, reliance on 

these cases is misplaced and his motion should be denied. 

In Nevada, NRS 129.010 sets the age of majority at eighteen, and reads, “All persons 

of the age of 18 years who are under no legal disability, and all persons who have been declared 

emancipated pursuant to NRS 129.080 to 129.140, inclusive, are capable of entering into any 

contract, and are, to all intents and purposes, held and considered to be of lawful age.”  This 

provides a rational basis for the Legislature to enact NRS 176.017, NRS 176.025 and NRS 

213.12135 and delineate between those offenders over the age of eighteen and those under the 

age of eighteen; and Defendant fails to rebut this basis.  Moreover, in the Assembly and Senate 

Judiciary Committee Minutes from prior sessions, the Legislature heard testimony as to the 

development of the adolescent brain, and at no point expanded its protections to individuals 

over the age of eighteen. 

Defendant also alleges that his sentence violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition 

against cruel and unusual punishment, relying upon Roper, Graham, and Miller.  The Eighth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Article 1, Section 6 of the Nevada 

Constitution prohibits the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment.  The Nevada Supreme 

Court has stated that “[a] sentence within the statutory limits is not ‘cruel and unusual 

punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so 
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unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience.’” E.g., Allred v. State, 

120 Nev. 410, 92 P.2d 1246, 1253 (2004) (citations omitted).  

Additionally, the Nevada Supreme Court has granted district courts “wide discretion” 

in sentencing decisions, and these are not to be disturbed “[s]o long as the record does not 

demonstrate prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on 

facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence.”  Allred, 120 Nev. at 410, 92 

P.2d at 1253 (quoting Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976)).  A 

sentencing judge is permitted broad discretion in imposing a sentence and absent an abuse of 

discretion, the district court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal.  Randell v. State, 

109 Nev. 5, 846 P.2d 278 (1993) (citing Deveroux v. State, 96 Nev. 388, 610 P.2d 722 (1980)).  

As long as the sentence is within the limits set by the legislature, a sentence will normally not 

be considered cruel and unusual.  Glegola v. State, 110 Nev. 344, 871 P.2d 950 (1994).   

Finally, “with regard to a sentence for a criminal offense, while it is the function of the 

Legislature to set criminal penalties, it is the function of the judiciary to decide what penalty, 

within the range set by the Legislature, if any, to impose on an individual defendant.” 

Mendoza-Lobos v. State, 125 Nev. 634, 639-40, 218 P.3d 501, 504-05 (2009) (citations 

omitted).  At the time of Defendant’s offenses, the penalty range set by the Legislature for 

First Degree Murder, to which he was found guilty, was as follows: 

 

A person convicted of murder of the first degree is guilty of a category A felony 

and shall be punished: 

(a)  By death, only if one or more aggravating circumstances are found and any 

mitigating circumstance or circumstances which are found do not outweigh the 

aggravating circumstance or circumstances; or 

(b)  By imprisonment in the state prison: 

(1)  For life without the possibility of parole; 

(2)  For life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning 

when a minimum of 20 years has been served; or 

(3)  For a definite term of 50 years, with eligibility for parole beginning when a 

minimum of 20 years has been served. 

1997 NRS 200.030(4). 
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The sentence of life without parole was thus within the sentencing range, and was, moreover, 

a sentence to which he agreed he could be sentenced to after the State agreed to not seek the 

death penalty in this case.  

Defendant claims that expansion of Roper, Graham, and Miller to offenders over the 

age of eighteen, such as Defendant, is supported by science, national consensus, and historical 

context.  However, these are policy arguments that are best suited for the Nevada Legislature 

than this Court.  However, in State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Logan D.), 129 Nev. __, __, 

306 P.3d 369, 387 (2013), the Nevada Supreme Court held, when rejecting the defendant’s 

policy argument, that: 

 

Logan presents a compelling policy consideration that warrants serious 

reflection by the Legislature. But policy considerations are not material to our 

ex post facto analysis because they are relevant only to whether the statutory 

scheme is the best manner to achieve legislative goals, and that question is solely 

in the Legislature's purview. In our ex post facto analysis, we are limited to 

considering whether the statutory scheme is reasonable in light of its goals, see 

Smith, 538 U.S. at 105, and Logan has failed to demonstrate that A.B. 579 is 

unreasonable in light of the goal of public safety.  

 

Here, instead of addressing his policy concerns to the Nevada Legislature, Defendant asks this 

Court to engage in judicial activism by advocating a dramatic expansion of the series of United 

States Supreme Court cases related to the sentencing of juvenile offenders.  However, 

Defendant’s invitation to judicial activism is devoid of legal authority supporting the 

application of Miller, and Roper, to an offender over the age of eighteen.  Defendant neglects 

this obligation because he cannot make such a showing. 

Additionally, Defendant’s scientific argument is a policy argument suited for the 

Legislature.  Defendant purported science boils down to a policy argument, according to which 

younger adults, such as Defendant, share the same brain development as juvenile offenders, 

which supports Defendant benefitting from the changes in Nevada law and from Miller.  

However, during the meeting of the Assembly Committee on the Judiciary, on March 27, 

2015, on A.B. 267, James Dold, the Advocacy Director of the Campaign for the Fair 
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Sentencing of Youth, detailed the findings on child brain development science, in response to 

a question comparing juveniles to adult offenders with below-average IQs.  Mr. Dold 

explained that brain maturation “as a general matter [] does not happen until around 18 to 20 

years of age.  Dr. Bridget Walsh, a developmental scientist in the area of child development 

also emphasized, both in a statement to the Assembly Committee on the Judiciary and the 

Senate Committee on the Judiciary, that “emotions tend to rule behavior until around age 25 

or so when the prefrontal cortex fully develops.”  The Legislature, thus, heard similar 

arguments to that which Defendant puts forth and yet the Legislature elected to only establish 

the protections of its new statutes to juveniles – those under the age of eighteen – instead of 

expanding Miller, Graham, or Roper to offenders over the age of eighteen.  This Court should 

not go where the Legislature would not go.   

The Defendant also cites to Cruz v. United States, wherein the U.S. District Court for 

Connecticut granted Cruz’s civil action to vacate his sentence.  While Cruz v. United States, 

2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 52924 (2018) does state that a mandatory sentence of life-without-

parole for juvenile offenders was unconstitutional, the court also emphasized that the decision 

did “not foreclose a sentencer’s ability to make that judgment in homicide cases [so long as it 

took] into account how children are different . . . .”  Miller, 567 U.S. at 480, 132 S. Ct. at 2469.   

In Nevada, unlike in Cruz, there is no mandatory Life Without the Possibility of Parole for 

murder.  In fact, what is curious, in addition to being a possible sentence as matter of law, 

Defendant’s exposure to life-without-parole was the result of his own agreement he entered 

with the State to not to seek the death penalty.  Another distinguishing factor between Cruz 

and the case before this court is that Cruz involved a very different set of facts.  Cruz involved 

a gang-ordered double murder by a gang member who testified he thought he would be killed 

if he did not commit the shootings whereas Defendant Ramos involved him killing a man and 

killing and raping a woman where he argued it was not him who committed the crime.  Ramos 

and Cruz do share the commonality that both Defendant Ramos and Cruz were several months 

over the age of eighteen at the time they committed their murders.  Despite Defendant’s effort 

to prove the contrary, one case allegedly on point (Cruz) does not a national consensus make.  
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As such, not only is this a policy argument that should be brought to the Legislature, but 

Defendant’s attempts to prove the existence of a national consensus that would support the 

expansion of Miller’s prohibition of mandatory life without parole sentences to those over the 

age of eighteen also fails.   

 Defendant’s reliance on AB 267 is also misplaced.  While it is accurate that the statute 

allows for an offender who was under 18 years old to be eligible for parole, the statute does 

not apply to Defendant Ramos.  The statute, NRS 213.12135, reads as follows: 

 

      1.  Notwithstanding any other provision of law, except as 

otherwise provided in subsection 2 or unless a prisoner is subject 

to earlier eligibility for parole pursuant to any other provision of 

law, a prisoner who was sentenced as an adult for an offense that 

was committed when he or she was less than 18 years of age is 

eligible for parole as follows: 

      (a) For a prisoner who is serving a period of incarceration for 

having been convicted of an offense or offenses that did not result 

in the death of a victim, after the prisoner has served 15 calendar 

years of incarceration, including any time served in a county jail. 

      (b) For a prisoner who is serving a period of incarceration for 

having been convicted of an offense or offenses that resulted in 

the death of only one victim, after the prisoner has served 20 

calendar years of incarceration, including any time served in a 

county jail. 

      2.  The provisions of this section do not apply to a prisoner 

who is serving a period of incarceration for having been convicted 

of an offense or offenses that resulted in the death of two or more 

victims.  (Emphasis added).   

The statute does not apply to the Defendant because he was 10 months and 5 days over 18 

years old AND he killed TWO people.  Clearly the Legislature established that even if the 

Defendant had been under 18 when the crimes occurred, which he was not, he would still not 

get the benefit of the statute as he killed two people.   

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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CONCLUSION 

Seeing as Defendant was 18 years, 10 months, and 5 days old at the time he raped and 

murdered Helen Sabraw and murdered Wallace Siegel, he was not a juvenile.  Thus, he is 

legally facing Life Without the Possibility of Parole as a possible sentence under the statute.  

As such, the Defendant's Motion to Strike Penalty of Life Without the Possibility of Parole 

should be DENIED. 

DATED this     day of September, 2019. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
 

 
 BY /s/Giancarlo Pesci 
  GIANCARLO PESCI 

Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #007135 
 
  

 

 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 17th day of 

September, 2019, by electronic transmission to: 
                                                                
  
     IVETTE MANINGO, ESQ. 
     Email:  iamaningo@iamlawnv.com  
 
     ABEL YANEZ, ESQ. 
     Email:  ayanez@noblesyanezlaw.com    
     

   BY: /s/ Stephanie Johnson 
  Secretary for the District Attorney's Office 

 
 
 
 
 
 
10F19783X/GP/sa/MVU 
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RPLY 
LAW OFFICES OF IVETTE AMELBURU MANINGO, ESQ.           
IVETTE AMELBURU MANINGO, ESQ. 
NEVADA BAR NO. 7076 
400 S. 4th Street, Suite 500  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101  
(T): (702) 793-4046 
(F): (844) 793-4046 
EMAIL: iamaningo@iamlawnv.com 
 
 
ABEL M. YANEZ, ESQ. 
NOBLES & YANEZ LAW FIRM 
NEVADA BAR NO. 7566 
324 South Third Street, Suite 2 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
(T): (702) 641-6001 
(F): (702) 641-6002 
EMAIL: ayanez@noblesyanezlaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendants Gustavo Ramos 
 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
THE STATE OF NEVADA,            ) 
             ) 
   Plaintiff,                    )  CASE NO: C-10-269839-1 
             ) 

v.          )  DEPT. NO:   IX 
           ) 

GUSTAVO RAMOS  ) 
#1516662            )     

       )   
                                    Defendant.                    )   
                                                                               ) 
 

REPLY TO STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO STRIKE 
PENALTY OF LIFE WITHOUT THE POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE  

 COMES NOW, the Defendant, GUSTAVO RAMOS, by and through his attorneys, Ivette 

Amelburu Maningo, of the Law Offices of Ivette Amelburu Maningo, and Abel M. Yanez, Esq., of 

the Nobles & Yanez Law Firm, and hereby submits his Reply to the State’s Opposition to 

Defendant’s Motion to Strike Penalty of Life Without the Possibility of Parole. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

Case Number: C-10-269839-1

Electronically Filed
9/19/2019 4:32 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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This Reply is made based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the attached 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time set for 

hearing Defendant’s Motion. 

 
  DATED this 29th day of September, 2019. 

Nobles & Yanez Law Firm   Law Offices of Ivette Amelburu Maningo 

/s/ Abel Yanez____________   /s/ Ivette Maningo____________ 
ABEL M. YANEZ, ESQ.   IVETTE AMELBURU MANINGO, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No.: 7566    Nevada Bar No.: 7076 
324 South Third St., Ste. #2   400 S. 4th Street, Suite 500  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89109   Las Vegas, Nevada 89101   
(T): (702) 641-6001    (T): (702) 793-4046 
(F): (702) 641-6002    (F): (844) 793-4046 
 

Attorneys for Defendant Gustavo Ramos 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

FACTS 
Defendant, GUSTAVO RAMOS (hereinafter “RAMOS”), hereby incorporates by reference 

the statements of facts and points and authorities detailed in his original Motion to Strike Penalty of 

Life Without the Possibility of Parole. 

ARGUMENT 

I.   RAMOS is Not Asking the Court to Engage in Judicial Activism 
 

In its Opposition, the State claims that RAMOS’s Motion is asking the “Court to engage in 

judicial activism by advocating a dramatic expansion of the series of United States Supreme Court 

cases related to the sentencing of juvenile offenders.” State’s Opp, pg. 9, lns.17-19. This completely 

mischaracterizes RAMOS’s argument.  

To be clear, RAMOS is respectfully requesting that the Court engage in what it has been 

constitutionally authorized to do since the founding of our Republic: Judicial review. See Marbury 

v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137, 177 (1803) (“It is emphatically the province and duty of the judicial 

department to say what the law is.”). As Chief Justice Marshall declared well over 200 years ago: 

“Those who apply the rule to particular cases, must of necessity expound and interpret that rule. 

If two laws conflict with each other, the courts must decide on the operation of each.” Id. (emphasis 

added). Therefore, RAMOS’s Motion asks this Court to do nothing more than its inherent 

constitutional duty. 

Additionally, as a Connecticut federal court noted in a case cited in RAMOS’s original 

Motion, regarding the application of U.S. Supreme Court case law involving those under the age 18 

to those who are in fact 18-years-old, nothing in that case law “states or even suggests that courts 

are prevented from finding that the Eighth Amendment prohibits mandatory life without parole for 

those over the age of 18. Doing so would rely on and apply . . . [that case law] to a different set of 
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facts not contemplated by the case, but it would not be contrary to that precedent.” Cruz v. United 

States, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 52924, at 38 (D. Conn. 2018). 

II.   The State Misconstrues RAMOS’s Reliance on Cruz v. United States 

The State argues that the Cruz decision is inapplicable to RAMOS’s case because in  

Nevada “there is no mandatory Life Without the Possibility of Parole.” State’s Opp, pg. 10, lns.18-

19. However, RAMOS’s reliance on Cruz is not for the fact that the federal court held that 

mandatory life without parole for juvenile offenders is unconstitutional. Rather, the rule to be 

applied from Cruz to RAMOS’s case is that the science and rationale behind the U.S. Supreme 

Court precedent in Graham, Miller, and Montgomery, applies to 18-years-olds, the same age 

RAMOS was at the time of the alleged crimes. 

III.   Other State Courts have Expanded U.S. Supreme Court Case Law  

Other State courts have expanded on the U.S. Supreme Court’s case law regarding 

punishments as to juveniles. For example, just last year the Washington Supreme Court, relying in 

part on the Court’s rationale in Graham, Miller, and Montgomery, held that under the Washington 

Constitution, a sentence of life without parole for a juvenile—whether mandatory or not—is 

disproportionate and therefore constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. See State v. Bassett, 428 

P.3d 343 (Wash. 2018); see also People v. House, 72 N.E.3d 357 (Ill. App. 2015) (holding that the 

Miller decision applies to 19-year-olds under the Eighth Amendment). 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing reasons, RAMOS respectfully submits that after reviewing all the 

evidence adduced at a hearing on his Motion, together with the foregoing Reply, this Court will be 

impelled to grant his Motion. 

DATED this 19th day of September, 2019. 

 

Nobles & Yanez Law Firm   Law Offices of Ivette Amelburu Maningo 

 
/s/ Abel Yanez____________   /s/ Ivette Maningo____________ 
ABEL M. YANEZ, ESQ.   IVETTE AMELBURU MANINGO, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No.: 7566    Nevada Bar No.: 7076 
324 South Third St., Ste. #2   400 S. 4th Street, Suite 500  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89109   Las Vegas, Nevada 89101   
(T): (702) 641-6001    (T): (702) 793-4046 
(F): (702) 641-6002    (F): (844) 793-4046 
 

Attorneys for Defendant Gustavo Ramos 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on the 19th day of September, 2019, I served a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing document, Reply to the State’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Strike 

Penalty of Life Without the Possibility of Parole, by submitting electronically for filing and/or 

service within the Eighth Judicial District Court pursuant to Administrative Order 14-02 for e-

service to the following: 

       
District Attorneys Office 
E-Mail Address: 
  
pamela.weckerly@clarkcountyda.com 
giancarlo.pesci@clarkcountyda.com  

Attorneys for Plaintiff  
 
 
 
 
       ___/s/ Andrea Jelks               ______ 
       Secretary for Nobles & Yanez Law Firm 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
STATE OF NEVADA, 
 
                    Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 

   GUSTAVO RAMOS,  
 
                    Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 CASE NO:  C-10-269839-1 
 
DEPT.  III 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE DOUGLAS W. HERNDON,  
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

 
 

FRIDAY, SEPTEMBER 20, 2019 

 

RECORDER’S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 

RE:  MOTION TO STRIKE PENALTY OF LIFE WITHOUT THE 

POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE AND SENTENCING 

 

 

 

 

See Appearances on Page 2 
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APPEARANCES:   

 

  For the Plaintiff:   PAMELA C. WECKERLY, ESQ. 

 

 

  For the Defendant:   IVETTE A. MANINGO, ESQ. 

      ABEL YANEZ, ESQ. 

      JAMIE J. RESCH, ESQ. 

 

 

ALSO PRESENT:  

  

 Interpreter:    MARIELLA LOPEZ 

  

 Victim Impact Speakers: STACY SABRAW 

      MICHELLE SULLIVAN 

      KATHERINE BOCKHORST 

      LESLEE SIEGEL 

      ROSLYN SIEGEL 

      JACK SIEGEL 
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Las Vegas, Nevada; Friday, September 20, 2019 
 

[Proceeding commenced at 10:24 a.m.]  

 

THE COURT:  On the record of Mr. Ramos's matter, 

269839.   

You guys, do you want him to come sit at table with you?  

Is that better?   

MS. MANINGO:  Sure.   

THE COURT:  Yeah.   

MS. MANINGO:  That would be great.  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you, Officer.  

MS. MANINGO:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Could you assist him, please, sir, Officer?  

Thank you.   

Okay.  Before we get started with sentencing, we have the 

motion that defense filed in regard to striking the note -- the life 

without the possibility of parole as a potential penalty.   

All right.  Abel?   

MR. YANEZ:  Thank you, Judge.   

Let me preface my argument, Judge, with I guess what the 

precedent is and isn't.  Obviously, if the U.S. Supreme Court or the 

Nevada Supreme Court speaks on a subject with the exact same 

facts that we would have -- that we have in this case, this court is 

bound by that precedent.   

We don't have that in this case.  We don't -- there's no 
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case on point.  That being said, the contrary's true as well, of course, 

that I don't have a specific case that says you need to follow this 

exact case.   

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. YANEZ:  I understand that -- I don't think it's a stretch 

or, as the State put it in their opposition, judicial activism from this 

Court if the Court were to grant my motion.   

I think both in the analysis that's done in the motion when 

it comes to Supreme Court precedent over the past 15 years of 

Roper Graham Miller and then Montgomery, as well as the actions 

that the Nevada Supreme Court has taken related to the issue raised 

in my motion and the Nevada legislature, I think this Court has the 

power -- and I actually quoted Marbury v. Madison -- of judicial 

review to apply an analysis of the constitutional law that's out there 

to a new set of facts that we have in this case that the Supreme 

Court has never decided.   

In fact, I also wanted to point out in the Miller case -- I put 

this in the footnote -- the Miller court explicitly said that it was not 

considering, therefore not deciding Miller's alternative argument that 

he made to the Court that the 8th Amendment requires a categorical 

ban on life without parole for juveniles.   

So the facts of this case obviously require, I think, two 

things or two types of analysis that there's no case law on point.  

Number one, the furthest that the U.S. Supreme Court has gone 

when it comes to juveniles and life without is the Miller case, which 
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they explained you cannot have a mandatory life without parole 

sentence.  That violates the 8th Amendment.  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. YANEZ:  However, currently pending before the U.S. 

Supreme Court -- and I noted this in my motion -- there's oral 

arguments that in October is the Malvo case -- I believe out of the 4th 

Circuit -- that the 4th Circuit held under any circumstance, you 

cannot have a life without parole sentence for juveniles.  That's issue 

number one.   

The other obvious issue is that Gustavo wasn't under the 

age of 18 at the time --  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. YANEZ:  -- that these crimes were alleged to have 

occurred.  However, I've, provided I believe, not only 

scientific-backed research, but case law in a federal district court out 

of Connecticut that found there is no practical difference mental 

status-wise, maturity-wise, rehabilitation-wise between someone 

under the age of 18 and someone who, in fact, is 18.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. YANEZ:  So those are the two separate issues.  I know 

there's no cases on point, but I think there's enough case law out 

there, and the actions of the Nevada Supreme Court and the Nevada 

legislature, that this Court, under it's power of judicial review, can 

find that the portion of the statute in Nevada for 18-year-olds who 

were 18 at the time that the crime's alleged to have been committed, 
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that you cannot impose a sentence of life without parole as it's a 

violation of the cruel and unusual punishment.   

As to the Nevada Supreme Court, they've gone a step 

further than the U.S. Supreme Court because the U.S. Supreme 

Court has never decided the issue of whether if you have a 

cumulative sentence, that in effect is the same as life without, that's 

unconstitutional as well.  The Nevada Supreme Court has found that 

in the Boston case.   

And then the Nevada legislature, first in 2015 first came up 

with a statute that says juveniles who are convicted of non-homicide 

offenses must be eligible -- it's not mandatory parole, but eligible for 

parole after 15 years.   

THE COURT:  Correct.  

MR. YANEZ:  And at that time in 2015, they also put a 

statute that says for those who commit one -- and they isolated it to 

one murder -- that they're eligible for parole as long as they're under 

18 and as long as it was just one murder.  They're eligible for parole 

after 20 years.   

Now, one thing I did want to clarify -- because I didn't 

want the Court thinking I was trying to mislead the Court -- the 

Assembly Bill 424 that the legislature considered this year was 

passed by the Assembly, but it died in the Senate --  

THE COURT:  Correct.  

MR. YANEZ:  -- because the 120 days ran out.  The bill, 

Assembly Bill 267, in 2015, that passed with a 63-to-0 vote in favor of 
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those -- of that law.   

THE COURT:  Correct.  

MR. YANEZ:  And in Assembly Bill 424 this year it was -- in 

the Assembly, it was 33 votes in favor, 7 against, and 2 that were 

absent who didn't vote.  Obviously, I know that's not the law.   

THE COURT:  Correct.  

MR. YANEZ:  But I think it's an indication of where -- not 

only where the nation is, but where this state is when it comes to life 

without parole for those who are under 18, and as the medical, 

psychological research indicates, I think is applicable to 18-year-olds 

as well.   

So based on those arguments, Judge, I'm asking the Court 

to strike the sentence of life without parole as it applies in this case 

to someone who was 18 years old at the time the crime was alleged 

to have committed.  

THE COURT:  The problem, though, is, I mean, how far 

would you go, right?  I mean, how do you develop a line to say, well, 

if they're 18 and they're really functionally the same as a 17-year-old, 

wouldn't that also apply if you're 19 and a day?  I mean, it gets really 

slippery slope.  

MR. YANEZ:  It does, but it's something the Court doesn't 

have to consider.  The Court can apply it just to these set of facts of 

an 18-year-old.   

And I agree with the Court's analysis that eventually there 

has to be a line drawn, but that line can't be drawn arbitrarily as I 
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think it is right now.  It's just we pick 18 for various reasons.  That's 

the way it's always been.  You're allowed to vote at 18.  There's a lot 

of things that we're not allowed to do until we're 21: own or possess 

a gun --  

THE COURT:  Sure.  

MR. YANEZ:  -- alcohol, tobacco, stuff like that.   

So our position is under a fairness due process, that line 

has to be drawn on basically a science and what that teaches us 

about the difference between a 17-year-old or an 18-year-old or a 

19-year-old.   

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. YANEZ:  One day that line will probably be drawn -- 

it's going to have to be drawn somewhere.  I mean, unless the 

science advances to a point --  

THE COURT:  Well, but it's kind of been drawn; right?  And 

I mean, it's really -- isn't it kind of the legislature's job to receive the 

type of information we're talking about and decide if a line is going 

to be drawn, where that line gets drawn as opposed to the Court 

kind of --  

MR. YANEZ:  Well, I don't think they're mutually exclusive.  

I don't think it's necessarily the legislature.  That is one way to go.  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. YANEZ:  But as the Federal Court in Connecticut, the 

Cruz court indicated that they -- that the court system has a right to 

draw that as well under the 8th Amendment, on what's prohibited or 
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not under the cruel and unusual punishment clause.  And that Court 

felt that 18 years old is the equivalent of a juvenile, and it applied the 

Miller decision to an 18-year old.  So I don't think this Court is 

stepping out of its authority or being judicially active if it, in fact, 

grants my motion.   

The fact that the legislature can change the law as well I 

don't think necessarily then equates to Your Honor can't make that 

decision as well.  Obviously, that's the province of this Court to say 

what the law is or isn't and what's constitutional or not, in light of 

the fact that there's no precedent constraining this Court on what it 

can and cannot do because that issue has never been presented to 

the U.S. Supreme Court.  And that's kind of the same rationale that 

the Cruz court -- that's the Federal Court in Connecticut -- used.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Weckerly?   

MS. WECKERLY:  So the State's position that it would be is 

judicial activism is based on a couple points.  And actually, the Court 

discussed them with Mr. Yanez.   

If the Court looks at this in terms of whether or not he's a 

minor, this defendant isn't a minor.  There's no case and no court 

that says it's constitutionally improper to apply a life without 

sentence, except that Court in Connecticut, to someone who's over 

18.  He was almost 19 at the time he committed this crime.   

And even if you take the court in Connecticut, they don't 

hold that the life without sentence would be improper 

constitutionally for someone who committed two homicides, which 
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we have in this case as well.   

And so the only way the Court could do this is if the Court 

found that it was constitutionally improper to apply a life without 

sentence on a double homicide to someone who was over 18 at the 

time of the crime.   

Short of that, the Court is -- would be essentially 

legislating because the -- it's pretty clear what the legislature in 

Nevada considered.  They had the opportunity to consider 

Mr. Yanez's arguments or those proposals, and they chose not to 

enact.  And we know what their intent was because of the statute 

limiting the sentences for juveniles who are under 18.  And 

interestingly, even that statute provides for a lengthier or a life 

without sentence -- or a stacked sentence, I guess I should say --  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MS. WECKERLY:  -- in the event of a double homicide.   

So we have a clear message from our legislature, and no 

holding upon which this Court could premise an unconstitutional 

interpretation of a life without sentence given the double homicide in 

this case and also that this defendant is over 18 at the time of the 

crime.   

So from the State's perspective, there isn't a proper 

judicial basis upon which to grant the motion.  

MR. YANEZ:  And if I could just make one last point --  

THE COURT:  Sure.  

MR. YANEZ:  -- since it's relevant -- of a Nevada Supreme 
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Court case decision that just came out last week.  The legislature 

could have also said that for battery DV trials, you're entitled to a 

jury trial.  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. YANEZ:  They never did.  The Nevada Supreme Court 

said that is mandatory.  So there are things obviously that the 

legislature has considered, has refused to do, that a court of law can 

do.   

THE COURT:  Well, you know, this is a really kind of 

difficult area, because every one of us in our lives knows 

14-year-olds who probably by the circumstances in their life -- 

maybe their parents are not around a lot or whatever it may be -- are 

more mature and make better decisions than a lot of 30-year-olds we 

know; right?  And then we know a lot of kids that make horrible 

decisions.  And I don't think it is any stretch of anything to say, 

generally speaking, juveniles make bad decisions because they don't 

have the life experience that adults have, and they have certain -- 

haven't developed from a brain standpoint in a way that adults have.   

And decision-making is at the heart of everything that 

happens in the criminal justice system; I say it all the time.  I mean, 

people don't generally end up in court because they're horribly bad 

people; they end up in court because they make really bad decisions, 

series of decisions.   

But I think that it's a very difficult slippery slope to say, 

look, we have this kind of idea of juveniles versus adults, but we 
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want to kind of move it a little bit to say an individual is kind of 

functionally a juvenile because they're a little over 18, or 18 months 

and -- or 18 years, 10 months, 5 days, whatever it is in this case.  

Whether it's 18 and a day or 28, I think what the law stands for that 

proposition is we are going to draw a very clear distinction, because 

it's the best thing we can do from a legislative standpoint is to say if 

you're a juvenile, i.e. under 18, there's going to be certain ways you 

get treated in juvenile courts as opposed to being taken to adult 

court, the way we don't adjudicate for juveniles, the way we do in 

adult court, and then the penalties that are going to available as well.   

You know, the fact that the legislature recognizes that you 

can be charged in adult court even though you're a juvenile kind of is 

an indication of I think what the legislature thinks of certain types of 

the crimes, but they certainly -- and I believe the legislature is in a 

much better position than the courts to kind of come in and evaluate 

the science of everything and decide whether there needs to be any 

more movement of that line or any more specificity in saying what 

penalties are or are not available.   

I believe the gentleman's 18 years old at the time, and the 

law provides that life without is a potential for that, and that's 

appropriate in this case to be able to consider that.  Thereafter, it's 

incumbent on the courts to kind of make that individualized 

determination of whether that sentence applies in an appropriate 

case or not.  You know, what does somebody's age and the certain 

circumstances of the offense dictate in terms of how we should 
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sentence them, but not strike certain abilities within the statute to 

sentence based upon the fact that they're probably closer to a 

juvenile than they are to, you know, you and I in terms of our ability 

to make decisions.   

So I do think that the law provides that life without is an 

appropriate punishment and that he qualifies for it because he is an 

adult under Nevada law.  Okay?  All right.  So the motion to strike 

that penalty's going to denied.   

And then my understanding from the State is you have 

maybe six, maybe more, speakers.   

MS. WECKERLY:  That's correct, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  But they'll be allowed to speak last, 

obviously.   

So Ms. Weckerly -- well, first off, Mr. Ramos, you're going 

to be adjudicated guilty of the two counts of first-degree murder with 

use of a deadly weapon and the one count of sexual assault with the 

use of a deadly weapon.   

Okay.  State.    

MS. WECKERLY:  Your Honor, I know the Court had a 

particularly good view of this trial sitting as a bench trial, so I will be 

brief.   

This case came in to the DA's office in October of 2010.  

The prelim was in 2010.  And this case is actually typical of capital 

litigation under the old system before we had four courts hearing 

exclusively homicide trials.   
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There was a notice of intent within 30 days -- or filed 

within 30 days after the preliminary hearing or the information was 

filed in District Court.  And so that was all in a pretty compressed 

time period.   

Six years into the case, in December of 2016, literally six 

and a half years into the case or a little over six years into the case, 

that's when the Atkins motion was filed.  And the defense took the 

position that Mr. Ramos was ineligible for the death penalty because 

of an intellectual disability, and they attached those reports to their 

sentencing memorandum.  And the State had an expert examine the 

defendant, and that expert reached a different conclusion.   

At that point the defense asked the State to consider a 

bench trial.  Obviously, that would mean that we would have to give 

up the death penalty in the course of that agreement.  And the State 

considered the nature of this crime and whether we wanted to give 

up the death penalty, given that we had two very innocent victims 

and the sexual assault and the incredibly violent nature of this crime.  

But at that point we're seven years into the case literally in District 

Court.  And, you know, we make decisions based on that.   

And so the State opted to give up the death penalty and 

agreed to a bench trial.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. WECKERLY:  From the State's perspective, that was a 

really big concession given to the defendant for sentencing, that he 

was no longer facing that possibility given the nature of this crime.   

AA 1618



 

Page 15 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

The system is much better now, cases move faster, but 

that is sort of a reality of capital litigation.  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MS. WECKERLY:  That, you know, we could have had the 

Atkins hearing and litigated three more years and been beyond ten 

years before this case ever went to trial.   

I know this Court is very familiar with the facts of the case, 

sitting as the trier of fact.  And the Court is aware that, you know, we 

are dealing with the most innocent of victims in this case.   

I think the family of Wallace Siegel could maybe take some 

solace in the fact that he might have been asleep at the time he was 

struck, and maybe that gives them some sense of peace.  I don't 

think the same thing can be said unfortunately for what happened to 

Helen Sabraw.   

Looking at those crime scene photos, it is quite evident 

she fought back, that it was an attack that took place in several areas 

of her residence, and that it wasn't over quickly for her.  And it was 

incredibly violent and also included an additional violation of a 

sexual assault.  And her family, you know, is, I'm sure, aware of what 

she went through.   

And I think it's a special kind of suffering that in cold cases 

victims' families -- you know, when cases aren't resolved, a lot of 

things happened and families suffer sort of an additional pain 

because of the nature of that.  In reading the defense sentencing 

memorandum, I was struck by the argument that, well, this 
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defendant has been, you know, crime-free for the last 21 years.  And 

what struck me about that is, he's been in custody for 10 of those 

years, so I'm not sure that's a real credit to his character.   

But I'm not being flippant when I say, you know, not 

having additional arrests after committing two homicides, a sexual 

assault, and an attempt murder that was plead down to an assault 

with a deadly weapon, you know, that's not really saying a lot in 

terms of someone's character or violence or the crimes they've 

inflicted on the community.   

And I would say that even if this were, you know, one 

isolated incident, the enormity of what happened at that retirement 

home and the nature of the injuries that were inflicted on Helen 

Sabraw and Wallace Siegel were enormous and very painful and 

with absolutely no reason whatsoever for any of it to have 

happened.   

And so the State respectfully asks the Court to consider 

the totality of what happened to those individuals when sentencing.  

And, you know, what accounts for that level of violence, what 

accounts for taking the lives of two people, and what accounts for 

the fact that they were very vulnerable and had no interaction with 

the defendant whatsoever at the time they were murdered.  It is 

closure perhaps a little bit 21 years later, but there should be justice.  

And from State's perspective, that would be a life without sentence 

on both of the murders.   

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Ramos, is there anything you 
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want to say before your attorneys speak on your behalf?  And the 

record will reflect that we do have the interpreter who has been 

present with Mr. Ramos the whole time through our hearing, so --  

MS. MANINGO:  Court's indulgence.  Court's indulgence.  

I'm sorry, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  That's okay.  Take your time.   

MS. MANINGO:  Your Honor, he's not going to give a 

statement at this time.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  And, Mr. Ramos, you had 

the chance to discuss that with your attorney; correct?   

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you very much.   

Okay, Mr. Yanez. 

MR. YANEZ:  And, Judge, I'm assuming Your Honor had 

an opportunity to review our sentencing memorandum. 

THE COURT:  I did.  

MR. YANEZ:  Okay.  As Mr. Weckerly indicated, this was a 

former death penalty case.  So we had -- this is such an 

extraordinary case.  And normally when you have a noncapital 

murder case, you don't have the opportunity to perhaps investigate 

in depth, as we were in this case, because this was originally a death 

penalty case.  So as I explained in my memorandum, we've 

interviewed family members, friends, workers, both in Mexico and 

here in the United States.   

And I'm just not going to repeat everything that I put in 
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here.  But what I can summarize, Judge, is that every possible risk 

factor that someone can have that we typically argue in mitigation 

cases Gustavo has.  And, you know, he's unwavering in maintaining 

his innocence, and of course, that's nothing that we can use against 

him.   

My arguments to the Court now are obviously past that 

point.  Your Honor has made --  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. YANEZ:  -- its decision.  We respectfully disagree with 

it, but we respect it and we have to proceed forward as if, in fact, of 

course, he's in fact guilty, because this Court has adjudicated him 

guilty.   

Those risk factors, Judge, the poverty that I detailed in my 

sentencing memorandum is horrific.  And I think since we're spoiled 

here in the United States with our standard of life, even for those 

who are less fortunate, I think we take for granted what true poverty 

is compared to a country such as Mexico, when he was born in the 

late '70s, early '80s.  That poverty is compounded by the abuse and 

neglect that he faced from family members, from stepfathers, an 

alcoholic abusive stepfather.  All those risk factors, Judge, are 

present in this case.   

And then those risks factors compound one another when 

we discuss his intellectual functioning.  And I attached 

Dr. Weinstein's report to the sentencing memorandum, which in his 

opinion, his opinion within a reasonable degree of scientific 
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certainty, that he is intellectually disabled.  And that's compounded 

by the fact that when he comes to this country, poor from Mexico, 

within an intellectual disability, he doesn't speak the language.  And 

that's reflected in his school performance, which is also indicative of 

his cognitive abilities.  He only goes up to the 9th grade.   

Rather than attach all his school records, I just attached, as 

an example, the last school year that he had.  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. YANEZ:  And obviously his grades are deplorable.  I 

think he even failed P.E. at that point.   

That is a reflection of what Mr. Ramos has had to face his 

entire life, which puts him at risk -- according to the research -- which 

puts him at risk for what he was accused of in this case.   

Ms. Weckerly took issue with our argument that, you 

know, he, in general, remained crime-free until he was arrested on 

this case in 2010.  I don't think the Court should make light of that or 

give that no credibility.   

Obviously, if the opposite was true, if he had been 

committing crime after crime after crime, the first thing Ms. Weckerly 

would be up here arguing is, Judge, he even had a chance for, you 

know, 10, 12 years, and he still couldn't prove that he could stay out 

of trouble.   

This is that extraordinary case that the Court has a glimpse 

of his behavior after the alleged crimes in this case up until his arrest 

in 2010, and he remained, in general, crime-free.  And that's the 

AA 1623



 

Page 20 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

point of my argument is that in general, the courts don't have that 

advantage.  They -- the Court is receiving arguments that this person 

is super dangerous, he's going to commit another violent act, 

another crime, so he needs to be locked up for a long time.  We have 

objective proof, because Mr. Ramos has lived it, that he remained 

relatively crime-free for those 12 years.   

In addition, Judge, his medical condition, compounded 

again by the intellectual disability, the poverty, indicates that he's 

not a danger or a threat to society.  And he's going to obviously have 

to serve some type of prison sentence.  We all know that.  This is all 

mandatory prison time.  But his medical condition is a factor that this 

Court must consider in regards to an appropriate and reasonable 

sentence that he's not a danger to this community.   

All those factors, Judge, our recommendation to the Court 

is a sentence of 20 to life on both murder charges and 10 to 25 on 

the sexual assault, with those counts to run concurrent.  Even that 

recommendation is going to, in effect, be 80 -- it's going to be in 

effect 80 to life, even if Your Honor granted our request.  I'm sorry, 

40 to life.  20 for the underlying crime --  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. YANEZ:  -- and 20 for the weapon.   

So at a minimum -- and he's 40 years old right now.  He 

would be first eligible for parole after that time.  So that, in effect, is 

almost a life sentence.   

But based on those risk factors: the poverty; the abuse; the 
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neglect; his age at the time of 18 years old, which we've already 

litigated; his medical condition that he's blind, he cannot see; the fact 

that he has remained relatively crime-free since this incident 

happened -- we're asking the Court to at least give him something, 

some glimmer of hope at the end.  He's probably never going to 

reach that based on his condition, his age, and the fact that he's just 

eligible for parole; it's not a mandatory parole after the 40 years have 

been completed.   

I did provide to the Court -- and I received this this 

morning, so I didn't have to a chance to have it translated -- but 

letters from his family members.  And I -- since I speak Spanish, I can 

basically summarize.  They're almost all identical, except the names 

are changed and how long these persons have known Gustavo.  

They all indicate that he's a hard worker and a good person.  So I did 

provide a copy to the District Attorney and Your Honor has that.  But 

in summary, that's what those letters indicate.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. YANEZ:  There is a slight modification on --  

THE COURT:  I'm going to file them as a court exhibit, just 

as a packet --  

MR. YANEZ:  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  -- knowing that they're all in the Spanish 

language, though.  

MR. YANEZ:  Thank you.  The presentence report -- and I 

can hand it to you -- there's a modification we believe that needs to 
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be made for the credit for time served, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. YANEZ:  This case -- he originally arrested by Metro 

officers on September 30th.  The PSI reports indicates October 13th.  

What had happened is when he's arrested by Metro officers on 

September 30th, they take him over to immigration and he's held 

there for those -- I think it was a difference of 13 days.  But he was in 

--  

THE COURT:  And then rebooked?   

MR. YANEZ:  He was in custody --  

THE COURT:  And then rebooked?  

MR. YANEZ:  Yes.  So our calculation, Judge, is 3,278 days 

of credit.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. YANEZ:  So if I can just summarize, Judge.  The 

sentence that we're recommending is nothing light, especially in 

light of the factors that are described in the sentencing 

memorandum and which I've touched upon today.  So we'd ask the 

Court to impose that sentence.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right, Ms. Weckerly.   

MS. WECKERLY:  Your honor, the first speaker is Stacy 

Sabraw.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. WECKERLY:  And you want them on the witness 

stand; correct?   
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THE COURT:  Yeah.  

MS. WECKERLY:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  They can come up to the witness stand.   

Could you raise your right hand, please?  Thank you very 

much.  

                       STACY SABRAW 

[having been called as a speaker and being first duly sworn, testified 

as follows:]  

THE CLERK:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  If you could 

state and spell your name for the record, please.  

THE WITNESS:  My name is the Stacy Sabraw, spelled 

S-T-A-C-Y, S-A-B-R-A-W.  

THE COURT:  All right, Ms. Sabraw.  Thank you very much 

for coming today.  Did you have something that you wrote that you 

wanted to read or --  

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  You can go ahead.  

THE WITNESS:  May I ask a quick question?  

THE COURT:  Sure.  

THE WITNESS:  We had decided to go from oldest to 

youngest, and we have a letter from my father who could not come.  

THE COURT:  Sure.   

THE WITNESS:  So may I read that first?   

THE COURT:  Yeah, absolutely.   

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  
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THE COURT:  You're going to read that one first?  

THE WITNESS:  I'll read the one from my father first, yeah.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  

VICTIM IMPACT STATEMENT OF STACY SABRAW 

THE WITNESS:  To the Honorable Judge Herndon:  Dear 

sir, I'm the oldest and sole surviving son of Helen M. Sabraw.  I 

would like to present a picture of her so that perhaps the Court may 

know her and her relationship to her whole family.   

First and foremost, she was a beautiful person both 

outwards and inwards.  She was kind and charitable to all people.  

Her beauty even as an elder was remarkable.  She was 86 years old 

but had longevity on her side.  Her grandmother and her aunt Marie 

both lived to be 94 years old.  The point being that horrendous 

assault denied seven grandchildren and their families her presence 

in their lives, possibly for many years to come.  I mentioned this to 

parlay the idea that she was an old lady and therefore no longer had 

useful contributions to anyone.   

The only positive thing to come out of open casket at the 

viewing was although the funeral home tried their best, they could 

not make her recognizable.  The viciousness of the attack upon her 

rendered my mother unrecognizable.  That was the lesson.  Never 

again.   

To discover her, like my brother Mark Sabraw did, with 

nothing but blood everywhere was horrendous enough in itself.  But 

to find out later that she was not only viciously attacked, but sexually 
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assaulted, is almost too much to bear even after so much time has 

passed.   

This man should never breathe the air outside, much less 

see the blue sky except from behind bars.  No one deserves to die 

the way my mother did at the hands of this monster.   

John C. Sabraw.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Was there a picture that he had 

that he wanted me to view or that you all have or --  

THE WITNESS:  Pictures, gang? 

THE COURT:  He referenced a picture at the beginning.  

And I don't know if you meant --  

THE WITNESS:  Oh, a mental picture, yes.  

THE COURT:  Figuratively.  Figuratively, okay.  Thank you.   

THE WITNESS:  Thank you for asking.   

Okay.  And this is from me.   

THE COURT:  Okay.   

THE WITNESS:  Again, to Your Honor, Judge Herndon.   

Dear sir, I am the oldest granddaughter of Helen M. 

Sabraw.  I would like you to understand what she meant to me and 

the impact her violent death has had on me and my family.   

My grandmother and I never lived in the same state, but 

she faithfully wrote letters in which shared her news and advice.  

She always signed off with:  Vaya con dios.  To me that phrase 

carried a sense of worldliness and taste and romance and a belief in 

God.  She would also send me handmade crafts and cards that she 
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had carefully created.   

During family visits and later on my own, my grandmother 

shared her love of antiques, and she would tell me the story of each 

piece she owned.  She always made my visits feel like a special 

occasion.   

She had such class in the way she dressed, in the way she 

would prepare a meal with carefully composed dishes and a 

compete place setting, in her graciousness and generosity towards 

others.  I loved her enthusiasm when we would join my Uncle Mark 

to watch the Green Bay Packers.  I remember her laugh, which came 

easily and belied all of the sad events that she had experienced in 

her life, such as her mother's early death, the struggles of the 

Depression, and my Uncle Tom's early death.  I think she took that 

pain and turned it into resilience.  I think she passed that onto us as 

well.   

Most of all, in her presence I felt loved and special just as I 

was.  To have someone delight in you just because is a rare gift.   

With these gifts -- while these gifts from her remain with 

me, it is the circumstances of her death that will forever be the first 

thought of her because they were so brutal, so heartbreaking, and so 

unnecessary.   

It is now 21 years since my grandmother was killed, and 

yet the pain is never less.  This act has rendered a permanent scar on 

my soul.  Nothing can be done to really set things right.  Yet, I do 

hope that the highest measure of legal justice can be obtained, that 
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this man will spend the remainder of his life in prison where 

someone as depraved as he has shown himself to be belongs.   

Thank you, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Thank you for coming.   

MS. WECKERLY:  The next speaker, Your Honor, is 

Michelle Sabraw Sullivan.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Could you raise your right hand 

for me, please?  Thank you very much.   

                       MICHELLE SULLIVAN 

[having been called as a speaker and being first duly sworn, testified 

as follows:]  

THE CLERK:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  If you could 

state and spell your name for the record, please.  

THE WITNESS:  My name is Michelle Sullivan, 

M-I-C-H-E-L-L-E, S-U-L-L-I-V-A-N.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Ms. Sullivan, do you also have 

something that you wrote?   

THE WITNESS:  I do.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  You can go ahead.  

VICTIM IMPACT STATEMENT OF MICHELLE SULLIVAN 

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Dear Judge Herndon, my name is 

Michelle Sullivan.  I am the granddaughter of Helen M. Sabraw, the 

victim in this case.   

My lovely grandmother was 86 years old and was 

peacefully living in a retirement home in Las Vegas when in May 

AA 1631



 

Page 28 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

1998 she was brutally beaten, sexually assaulted, raped and stabbed 

to death by the defendant in her own home.  No one should endure 

such a heinous death, especially an 86-year-old woman.   

My grandmother, Grams, as we call her, did not deserve to 

have her life taken from her in this horrible way.  The defendant 

robbed me and my family of any precious time that we would have 

had left to spend with her.  Her life was cut short, and instead of 

being able to die peacefully of natural causes, her life was taken.   

My grandmother's murder case went unsolved for 12 

years.  If not for DNA evidence, it may still be unsolved.  It tore me 

and my family up not knowing who was accountable for committing 

these acts to her.  Me and my family have waited 21 years for the 

defendant to be tried for her murder.  No one should have to wait 

this long for justice to be served against someone who brutally 

murdered my beautiful grandmother.   

It still haunts and saddens me to this day knowing that my 

grandmother was violated so horribly and must have been 

extremely scared and helpless as she was being beaten, violated, 

and stabbed and left to die all alone.   

It is my opinion that anyone would commit these crimes is 

a monster.  I ask you to provide no leniency and give the max 

sentencing allowed.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.   

MS. WECKERLY:  The next speaker is Katherine Bockhorst.  
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THE COURT:  Thank you.  Okay.   

                     KATHERINE BOCKHORST 

[having been called as a speaker and being first duly sworn, testified 

as follows:]  

THE CLERK:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  If you could 

state and spell your name for the record.    

THE WITNESS:  Katherine Bockhorst, K-A-T-H-E-R-I-N-E, 

B-O-C-K-H-O-R-S-T.  

THE COURT:  All right, ma'am.  Do you have something 

you wrote?  Okay.  You can go ahead.   

VICTIM IMPACT STATEMENT OF KATHERINE BOCKHORST 

THE WITNESS:  Dear Judge John -- I'm sorry.  Not John -- 

Judge Herndon.  Regarding Helen Sabraw, or as I call her, Grams.   

Just a little insight to what she meant to me.  She was my 

best friend.  She was my confidant.  She was my strength.  She 

taught me to be strong.  She saved my life and I couldn't save hers.  

She never had a daughter; I was her daughter.  I have a hole in my 

heart that can never be filled.   

The pain I feel for the loss of her is forever.  Time has not 

made it better; it just shows the loss greater.  She has missed 

growing old with me in her life.   

I never heard her voice again after Mother's Day 1998.  I 

spoke with her on that Sunday, and she was gone that Friday.  I miss 

her more than words can say.  We would call one another and she or 

I would say, I was thinking really hard about you.  I knew you were 
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going to call.  It was a great memory and just like we had this 

connection; it was incredible.  She believed in me before anyone else 

did.  I became the woman I am today because of her.   

Her courage, strength, compassion, and love is missed 

every day.  Vaya con dios, as my cousin said, was a saying she used 

all the time -- may god be with you.  For this I forgive the defendant.  

I will just never forget.  And I ask for the maximum sentence 

possible.   

Thank you for your consideration.   

THE COURT:  Thank you for coming.   

MS. WECKERLY:  The next speaker, Your Honor, is Leslee 

Siegel.   

THE COURT:  You can go ahead and sit down first.  It's 

okay.   

Okay.  Can you raise your right hand, please?   

                       LESLEE SIEGEL 

[having been called as a speaker and being first duly sworn, testified 

as follows:]  

THE CLERK:  Thank you.  If you could state and spell your 

name for the record, please.   

THE WITNESS:  Leslee, L-E-S-L-E-E, Siegel, S-I-E-G-E-L.  

THE COURT:  Okay, Ms. Siegel.  Do you have something 

that you wrote, or you just want to chat?   

THE WITNESS:  No.  It's from the heart.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  What would you like to tell me?   
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VICTIM IMPACT STATEMENT OF LESLEE SIEGEL 

THE WITNESS:  My father, Wallace Siegel, I was his oldest 

daughter.  And without sounding redundant because I know we all 

feel the same, I have been behind these false imprisoned bars, our 

family has, going through this.  This is 20 years of our lives plus, 

because it's going to continue.   

My dad fought for this country; he fought for our freedom.  

And his life was taken not in a war, but just out of meanness.  Our 

health has also gotten worse because mentally this has been really 

hard on us.  And as far as any solace of thinking my father didn't see 

this is -- there is none, you know.   

I'd love to use all the cuss words I could, but I know I can't 

and I'm sorry.   

THE COURT:  You'd be surprised what I hear in court.   

THE WITNESS:  I know, but.   

THE COURT:  Express yourself however you want to.  But 

one thing I'll tell you -- and I apologize for interrupting you.  And this 

happens a lot, whether it's parents grieving because their children 

have died from violent crime or children testifying about their 

parents dying from violent crime, the metaphorical behind the 

imprisonment of bars is relayed to me in a variety of ways by people 

every day.   

And look, just as Ms. Weckerly tries to provide a little 

solace in what she said about the suffering of your father -- I mean, 

what I always try and tell people is the same thing I've told my 
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daughters about when it's my time to go, whenever that's going to 

be is don't stop living; right?  I mean, that's the one thing I don't ever 

want to happen.  No matter how I meet my end they need to keeping 

living their lives and not live within the bars of any type of feeling of 

imprisonment.   

This is really hard because it was so long for you all to be 

able get to this point, much less to even get to an arrest, and I 

understand that.  But I'm confident that your father would want you 

guys to kind of let the sunshine in a little bit in our lives, and --  

THE WITNESS:  Oh, definitely.   

THE COURT:  So --  

THE WITNESS:  He's a good man.   

As far as the inmate's intelligence, his financial status, 

how he grew up -- we weren't a rich family.  I am -- and I'll say this in 

court -- I'm below poverty level, but I would never go out and 

murder anybody, you know.  We pushed ourselves to go to school.  

Both parents worked; of course they pushed us as well.  But one has 

to think of themselves, you know.   

I know people with no intelligence that wouldn't think of 

committing this kind of crime.  As far as I'm concerned because the 

death penalty was thrown off the table because of his mental status, 

that the true justice was taken away from us.  And to be honest with 

you, when something like this happens, even if he spends the rest of 

his life in prison, we'll never seek justice.   

And I too, for myself, I forgive him because I'm going to 
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go to heaven.  I'm going to sit at God's table, and I'm going to be the 

secretary.  And there's going to be people that aren't going to be 

there.  

THE COURT:  I wouldn't say secretary.  You need to be 

running the show when you get there.  

THE WITNESS:  Well, no, he runs the show.  I'm going to 

write down what he's going to say.  But I think because of the crimes 

committed that he should spend the rest of his life in jail with no 

possibility of parole.  And because I couldn't -- not that my dad 

would be here today.  He was taken away where I couldn't call him.  I 

couldn't see him.  He couldn't come to see us.  He couldn't see my 

daughter; she was the closest grandchild he had.  She was young 

when he was horrifically murdered.  And more than anything, she 

loved him so much, as we all did.   

But I think he deserves to be in jail, in prison without the 

possibility of parole and without being able to see his family, you 

know.  He tore our family apart.  He did.  This is something that stays 

with us.  Mental health affects physical health, and these last 20 

years, it's been incredibly terrible.  We try to move on.  It's just hard.  

It's just hard.   

God will do the final judgment, but in the meantime, 

please.  The victims that can no longer speak for themselves.  Listen 

to the ones that were left behind.  And he can't -- he can't be let out, 

you know.  I'm sorry.   

I don't know if I could say this, but he should have been 
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zapped a long time ago.  

THE COURT:  Well --  

THE WITNESS:  You know.  And I'm sorry I say that, but, 

you know, I'm from California and -- I don't know.  I don't agree with 

some of these laws that you guys have here.  But I am --  

THE COURT:  There's a lot of times that we're in the 

position of saying we don't agree with California, but --  

THE WITNESS:  I know.  

THE COURT:  We're all a little different as to --  

THE WITNESS:  Our President doesn't agree with 

California either. 

THE COURT:  And don't ever apologize for your feelings.  

Look, we're all entitled to have our feelings and our thoughts and 

how we view things.  I mean, that's what makes us unique 

individuals.  It's okay.   

THE WITNESS:  But mentally it's taken -- it's taken away 

from a lot of our family members where it's hard to describe.  It is.  

It's -- this is something that I'm never going to forget.  The reason 

the dog barked at the bailiff was because --  

THE COURT:  It's okay.  I'm a dog person, so -- what kind 

of dog do you have?    

THE WITNESS:  She's my service dog.  She's a Shih Tzu/ 

Chihuahua.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  

THE WITNESS:  But don't you dare come near me, 
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because he came near me, she barked because he was walking by.   

But I'm going to say thank you for letting me say what I 

needed to say.  And the tears are going to still be in my eyes missing 

my dad.  My daughter's going to redo his headstone, his and my 

mom's.  But, you know, and -- I'm glad you dismissed this thing with 

18, because I know that so many young kids are tried as an adult, 

so -- but I just want to say thank you and thank the Lord for at least 

finding who did this. 

THE COURT:  Okay.   

THE WITNESS:  But give us some type of justice.  He 

needs to suffer.  His family needs to suffer.  His family needs the 

tears that we've all shed, you know.  They need to know what it's like 

not to be able speak to anybody, to see that person anymore, to 

have absolutely no relationship except spiritually.   

And I thank you.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you for coming.  I 

appreciate it. 

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.    

MS. WECKERLY:  The next speaker, Your Honor, is Roslyn 

Siegel.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  You can go ahead and sit down.  All 

right.  Can you raise your right hand, please?   

                       ROSLYN SIEGEL 

[having been called as a speaker and being first duly sworn, testified 

as follows:]  
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THE CLERK:  Thank you.  If you can state and spell your 

name for the record, please.  

THE WITNESS:  Roslyn Siegel, R-O-S-L-Y-N, S-I-E-G-E-L.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Did you have something you 

wrote, or do you just want to chat with me?   

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Mine is short and brief, because 

otherwise I would have wrote you a book.   

THE COURT:  It's okay.  

VICTIM IMPACT STATEMENT OF ROSLYN SIEGEL 

THE WITNESS:  I'll start with my letter.  My name is 

Roslyn.  I am youngest child of my family.  On the morning of 

May 16th, 1998, I received a phone call at 5:30 a.m.  At that time my 

brother proceeded tell me my dad had been murdered.  At that 

moment my life changed forever.   

My dad, who was a disabled man, and also recovering 

from surgery, could not defend himself from the person who brutally 

and heinously took his life, a life that was God's choice to make 

when he was ready to do so, not the person -- the person left me in 

fear and immense anger.  I hope the State of Nevada gives him a 

sentence he deserves.   

Thank you.  

THE COURT:  Thank you very much.   

THE WITNESS:  This letter is from my oldest brother 

Mitchell.  

THE COURT:  Okay.   
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THE WITNESS:  May it please the Court --  

THE COURT:  Is his last name Siegel?   

THE WITNESS:  Yes, it is.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.   

THE WITNESS:  May it please the Court, my name is 

Mitchell J. Siegel.  I am the child of Wallace Siegel, a gentleman who 

was approaching 76 years of age in August 1998, the year of his 

murder.  My dad was recovering from medical injury, when our 

brother Jack, a trained medic by the Navy who took a leave of 

absence from his California-based job to assist Dad in his recovery.   

On May 16, 1998, Jack came home to find that Dad had his 

life brutally taken from him by the defendant.  On May 16th, 1998, 

the day of discovery of my father's mutilated body, I was in a cancer 

walk to raise money for cancer victims when my wife rushed onto 

the track and told me I had a phone call from my sister Ros 

immediately.  That phone call changed my life and that of my family 

forever.  Sadly, I learned of father's brutal murder.   

By anticipating a visit from me, my wife Lisa and her two 

children, Noah and Mahaleya (phonetic), we were celebrating Noah's 

graduation from high school and Mahaleya's graduation from 

middle school on May 31st.  He would see us all, including Grandpa 

and Gram and Dad.  My father would be in his element.  We would 

guests in his city, and he was ready to put on the job.   

The defendant destroyed that plan and visit so much.  

Dad's life, destroyed by a vicious act resembling that of a demonic 
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individual, caused shocking waves through our collective families 

and left us with anger.  We were so angry at the nursing facility for 

being so lax in its protection of its vulnerable residents, we wanted 

revenge.   

The defendant displayed no essence of mercy in his 

savage act, and my father's killing wasn't enough.  The defendant 

chose to perform an equal sadistic act of murder towards another 

resident at the nursing facility.   

To add to this incomprehensible act of violence, my 

brother, Jack Siegel, was a primary suspect of our father's murder, 

thus preventing our family from seeking negligent damages against 

the nursing facility.   

We were unable to find a Las Vegas attorney willing to 

take our case, and our brother has never been able to truly continue 

his life again.  Today, whether Jack admits that he suffered PTSD 

from finding our father's mutilated body or not, that added insult of 

being the primary suspect until the defendant was apprehended, add 

to the complexity of coping ability.  Our entire family recognizes this 

suffering.   

Through an act of divine intervention, the defendant's 

DNA was met secondary to the trial itself.  Thus, he awaits 

sentencing.   

I ask that the most severe punishment allowed by Nevada 

law be imposed upon this court.  I want the Court know that he -- 

that the immense pain and suffering the defendant caused our 
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families remains even today.   

I close by thanking the Court for due diligence in locating 

this violent criminal, concluding the defendant was definitely guilty 

of these three heinous crimes he committed and delivering the 

sentences he deserved.  I hope my petition has influence in 

considering the sentence the defendant will receive.   

Thank you.  Sincerely, Mitchell J. Siegel.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.  And please tell Mr. Siegel I 

appreciate his letter as well.    

THE WITNESS:  And he has changed my life forever.  I 

haven't shed a tear since because of the anger he has caused me, 

and I will never be the same.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

MS. WECKERLY:  Your Honor, the last speaker is Jack 

Siegel.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  Could you -- welcome back, sir.  Raise 

your right hand.  Thank you.   

                             JACK SIEGEL 

[having been called as a speaker and being first duly sworn, testified 

as follows:]  

THE CLERK:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  If you could 

state and spell your name for the record.   

THE WITNESS:  Jack Siegel, J-A-C-K, S-I-E-G-E-L.  

THE COURT:  All right Mr. Siegel, what would you like to 

tell me today?   
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VICTIM IMPACT STATEMENT OF JACK SIEGEL 

THE WITNESS:  Well, Your Honor, when my dad was 

discharged from the hospital, they only taught him how to get out of 

the bathtub.  At the time I was going through a worker's comp case 

in Los Angeles, so I had time to come on down.   

And we -- I was walking him to rehab.  And the first time 

he walked down to the kitchen, the whole kitchen just collapsed.  

You know, he was doing real good.   

But they wanted to kick him out.  And so I made a deal 

with the management to give me at least two months to keep him or 

they would put him in a home for six people -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

THE WITNESS:  -- instead of taking him myself.  He had 

the strength to get up.  He could have gone to the bathroom.  He 

needed help to get up.  I needed to get away for a week.   

We hired a Homestead, senior care.  This woman was 

drunk, dropped him, did all sorts of stuff.  It was just terrible when I 

got back and my dad told me.   

But there was -- to have -- I had gout on my knee.  My 

dad -- well, my dad and I didn't get close until we were like -- there 

was a generation gap.  Finally, I got to know him after I got out of the 

Navy and we connected.   

I haven't cried since everything happened.   

But I got home from -- I signed in about 1 o'clock in the 

morning, seven minutes in Las Vegas saved my life.  I was the only 
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suspect the police department had.  And if you don't no -- money 

from the government to help them with forensics, I am the only 

suspect.   

THE COURT:  Right.  

THE WITNESS:  Ten years later -- so ten years later they 

finally, through DNA evidence, picked up this gentleman here.  And 

what you do with him -- even the paramedics, because I walked into 

the room after the emergency room.  And I looked down and I go, 

what the heck?  Because there's a newspaper all over the floor, and I 

looked up and I -- Dad.   

And I was in the Navy, and I have my medical background.  

And I go and try to -- I looked at his face, and there was this purple 

tongue hanging out of his face.  And so I pulled the cord, because I 

made the arrangements to have somebody come over.  And they 

came over -- they didn't even look in the room.  They didn't do 

nothing.  He was supposed to go get the nurse to bring the -- they 

didn't do a darn thing.   

And he -- and all of a sudden the police -- I go back in, I 

pull the cord, I called my brother, 911.  The sheriff showed up, and 

then I walked out and I'm arrested.  Right away I'm told I'm taken out 

of the room.   

And to -- saw how gruesome it was, I never got to chance 

to go through it, because in my military background, just get the guy 

alive and get out of there.  They even were talking about how 

gruesome it was.  It's -- and for the whole time I've been on the 
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hook.   

Until you guys find someone, there's -- and I agree with 

my brother Mitch.  And so this gentleman -- this is Nevada law; you 

guys do whatever you do.  I have nothing to say about it.  I just know 

what happened.  I never really got a chance to see what it looked 

like, because my one focus was the purple tongue and I think I saw a 

white spot, maybe the white matter of the brain or whatever it was.  

And right away it was just make 911, call my brother, call people 

around me and get some help.  And the sheriffs took me right out of 

the hospital.   

But my life's been a miserable wreck since this whole darn 

thing.  I've lost my -- there's been other situations that aren't 

pertaining to here.  But it's that constant reaching out.   

And it's -- you know, even in -- I know in East LA -- I've 

lived in California.  East LA, even their youngsters, they don't go -- 

they drop out of school, and they know what murder's about.  You 

can't say gangsters or even street people don't know what murder or 

what happens when you murder somebody.   

And I hate to be mean about it, but I would say Thorazine 

shuffle with the diapers and don't give him a bath until the morning 

time and that would be fine by me too.   

But this man was healthy.  He had three open bypasses.  

He was better than new.  All he needed was a couple months to get 

him to walk.  Take this medication.  Homestead Health senior care 

took care of him.   
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And he told me this lady just abused him something awful 

a week before.  It was like, I can't -- I walked out of there in shock.  

And it's just -- I've been -- you know, I can't get nobody to believe 

that anything could happen to me with a murder case being --  

THE COURT:  You had a unique constellation of trauma; 

right?  To lose your father, to be the one that found your father in the 

state that he was in, and to be kind of under a cloud of suspicion for 

a long time.  I recognize that as a unique constellation of trauma to 

go through.  

THE WITNESS:  But they also changed the laws in Nevada 

because of these three individuals in this one place that all got -- I 

believe the first one was murdered also.  Because of these murders, 

they never had any security available at the retirement homes at 

these times.  They created laws because of these people.  It took two 

massive murders with Helen and my dad to have someone go in 

there and just rip them apart like they did and to walk away and say, 

I don't have the intelligence to know the difference between life and 

death and what it means?  I don't know where the law stands on 

that.   

It's -- I know that Mexico is two years ahead of us except 

for they don't speak English and math and English and everything 

else.  They're two years ahead of us according to the Los Angeles 

Times magazine.  But still the lack of intelligence.   

And I do believe I should receive some retribution also.  I 

mean, this -- I have been going through hell since '86 with this whole 
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thing going on because I've got issues with LA County.  I'll talk to 

you later if it's possible to show -- it might pertain to the other case.   

THE COURT:  Well, no.   

THE WITNESS:  That's beside the point.  

THE COURT:  There's nothing about that that has anything 

to do with today.  

THE WITNESS:  But, you know, this whole ordeal and 

nobody believes me.  They think I should be able to get over it.  They 

don't understand the difference between this gentleman here and 

the long arm of the law, and they snagged him because of the DNA 

evidence, from what I understand.  I don't know.  But that's how they 

caught up to him.   

But if they don't, I can -- with what's going on with me and 

LA County, they can come back and get me.  I could be 

(indiscernible).  It has left me in limbo for the longest time.  I do get 

some sort of closure, yes.  But total closure, no.   

THE COURT:  Well, you know, when you lose somebody, 

particularly to traumatic violent events, I don't know that you ever 

get complete closure.  I mean, I'm hopeful that today with 

sentencing him --  

THE WITNESS:  I never -- I'm just saying. 

THE COURT:  -- kind of helps along that path.  

THE WITNESS:  I never got to know my dad until in my 30s 

because of the generation gap.  I'm the youngest of four brothers, 

fifth child, and because of the generation gap, we finally -- I was in 
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the Navy.  I got out.  We started -- sports was our connection.  And 

my dad and I bonded, and we would stick together.   

I had an opportunity, because of the timeframe, to come 

down and take him, and he didn't trust me because I'm the baby of 

the child.  My sisters sowed their oats too.  I had to earn his trust and 

to get him to walk and then to hear the people who live with him, 

just cheer him on to see him walk again, it's -- it's a wonderful thing 

to hear.  And to know that he was stronger and better, except for 

some diabetes.  He was a good person.   

I never knew Helen.  I couldn't say anything about it.  I do 

know a rumor that wasn't true.  It came out on a Law & Order 

episode.  Some of the same --  

THE COURT:  I'm not worried about --  

THE WITNESS:  -- but that's another thing.   

THE COURT:  I'm not worried about Law & Order right 

now.  

THE WITNESS:  But there's got to be some, I don't know, 

retribution, something -- I became bored also.  I'm -- it really messed 

me up in LA.  I don't know what to say.  I'd asked for a life for a life is 

what I would ask for.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  

THE WITNESS:  And I don't know any way else to go about 

it.  

THE COURT:  That's okay.   

THE WITNESS:  And I do have someone that I would love 
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to get a life back for.  

THE COURT:  All right.   

THE WITNESS:  I don't know what to do about it.  And you 

can do whatever you want with him, but I would like a life for the life 

that was taken. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  I appreciate you 

coming back.   

Were there any others that wanted to speak today?   

MS. WECKERLY:  No, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  No?  Okay.   

So I have a lot of thoughts.  And you guys can all remain 

seated; it's okay.   

You know, sentencing, folks, first off, it is -- it is incredibly 

common.  And I completely understand where it comes from to 

express desires for retribution, to express desires that other people 

should suffer.  I completely understand it.   

My sentencing isn't based on trying to inflict suffering on 

anybody, however.  It's not based on trying to provide retribution.  I 

mean, it's all the very simple but sometimes very complex idea of 

what's justice?  What is the appropriate punishment for things that 

occurred and the people that are involved in committing those 

things?  Does it mean people suffer?  Absolutely.  It means people 

suffer by going to prison for really long times.  It means their family 

suffer.  It means sometimes that victims don't feel or victims families 

don't feel that they got as much as they wanted out of something in 
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terms of that idea of retribution or suffering.   

So people generally don't walk away from criminal cases 

and sentencing and feel really good about things.  I mean, there's 

obviously a lot of really difficult ideas and concepts and emotions 

that people struggle through.  Not just up into getting to today, but 

moving on from today as well.   

So I appreciate everything that you all had to say to give 

me a little insight into your parents and your loved ones and the 

emotions and struggles that you all have gone through.  Those are 

really, really important.   

And like I said to Mr. Siegel there at the end, all I can do is 

come up with what I think is an appropriate punishment and the 

hope that there is some modicum of closure that that provides to 

help you move forward on behalf of both Mrs. Sabraw and 

Mr. Siegel.  And I thank you all for coming today and expressing 

yourselves.   

As far as Mr. Ramos is concerned, I mean, it is -- you 

know, there are a lot of things here that I think would absolutely be 

found by a jury to be mitigation.  Despite -- and I don't disagree with 

anything Ms. Siegel said about, look, we have lots of people with 

intellectual disabilities that grow up in poverty, that grow up in 

difficult situations, and they don't commit murder.  They don't 

commit any violent crimes.  Sometimes they don't commit any 

crimes at all.  Other times, you know, maybe they do commit crimes, 

but it's certainly not violent crime.   
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We expect that people should understand despite 

whatever their poverty level or financial problems are that you don't 

go out and kill people, even though you're going to go steal from the 

supermarket or things like that.   

But there's levels within homicide crimes as well when 

you're trying to adjudicate somebody's sentence.  And I've always 

viewed it as, look, on the lower end of that you have things that are 

really, really impulsive, people that act in a heat of passion, the 

traditional scenario of finding your loved one in a relationship with 

somebody else.  You know, we call it the heat of passion kind of 

manslaughter-type killings.  You have people getting involved in 

killings because it's a group mentality, gang killings, things like that.  

You have people that get involved or adjudicated of murder because 

of their involvement in other dangerous felonies like a robbery and 

somebody dies.   

And then you move into the higher end aspect of it, in my 

mind, which is when you're dealing with willful, premeditated, and 

deliberate murder.  And I think Mr. Ramos not only was guilty of 

first-degree murder because of the felony murder aspect, but 

because of willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder as well.   

And then at the upper end of that spectrum you have kind 

of the long-term planning and killing of people and just pure evil; 

right?  And that's where the death penalty applies itself towards.  

So while I think there was a lot of mitigation here, I think 

that mitigation would have been impressive to a jury in terms of 
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whether to impose a death sentence.  I don't know that it would have 

lowered in their minds the idea that the punishment for this was 

appropriately life without the possibility of parole.  And it doesn't 

lower it in my mind either, because I view Mr. Ramos up there at that 

end of the spectrum.   

The issue here of prior criminal history or not, I'll tell you 

the way I view it -- and I know we didn't have a penalty hearing and 

everything that was presented.  But nonetheless, when I get a PSI, I 

do look at whatever other cases are referenced in there.   

So you're really dealing with this period from 1998 to 2010 

and the arrest here and what was or wasn't going on during that 

time period.  And I have two homicides in May of 1998 which we're 

talking about today, and then a month later, the other attempted 

murder case that the gentleman was arrested for.  And I believe what 

I had read about that was for hitting and trying to stab his girlfriend 

or a woman he was in relationship with and hitting her over the head 

several times with a metal folding chair.  And he ultimately pled 

guilty to assault with a deadly weapon, got put on probation, had 

some problems on probation, including a DUI arrest.  Ultimately got 

revoked on probation, went to prison, got out in 2007, and three 

years later finally got arrested in this case.   

So to me, that's kind of some substantial issues there in 

terms of another violent case occurring close in time to this, the 

inability to comply with probation, the idea that that other case also 

involved trying to stab somebody with a knife, and then obviously 
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here we are.   

Look, it's -- I know Mr. Ramos isn't a young man as he sits 

here right now.  I recognize very much that he was when he 

committed the crime.  And I don't think -- you know, society always 

loses when you send young people to prison for very long periods of 

time.  But I think society also gains when people that commit really 

horrible and brutal acts of violence more than once are taken out of 

society so that those acts can't occur any further in the future and 

represent appropriate punishment for what occurred here.   

The things that struck me kind of about these two killings:  

The very first thing was -- and the word unnecessary was used 

today, and I think that is probably the most appropriate word -- 

neither one of these individuals was in a position to fend off a young 

18-year-old man committing robbery, sexual assault, whatever it was 

going to be.  Those crimes could have occurred without any type of 

ability of either of these individuals in my mind to meaningfully 

resists those happening to them, and then the person could leave.  

Mr. Siegel never even got out of the chair.  It was almost 

as though that killing -- and I would agree with the word meanness -- 

it was used today -- was almost gratuitous.  That, I mean, you 

could've robbed him, you could've taken anything from him, but he 

was attacked without even getting out of that chair and beaten to 

death with that dumbbell.   

And then again, Ms. Sabraw, I think the characterization of 

a fight going on for some time and her struggling to survive is a very 
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fair characterization of that.  And there was no reason that that 

elderly woman had to be brutally stabbed to death in order to 

accomplish whatever else was intended, or was it just gratuitous 

killing?   

But they were both brutal enough, they were both 

separated enough, and in conjunction with everything else, I do 

believe that life without the possibility of parole are the appropriate 

sentences to impose here.   

So for each of the two first-degree murder convictions, 

Mr. Ramos, you're going to sentenced to life without the possibility 

of parole.  This falls under the equal and consecutive time period.  

So the weapon enhancements will also be life without the possibility 

of parole, Count 2 will run consecutive to Count 1.   

On Count 3, sexual assault with use of a deadly weapon, 

the sentence will be life in the department of prisons with a 

minimum 10 years before parole eligibility plus the equal and 

consecutive life minimum 10 for the weapon enhancement.  That's 

going to run consecutive to Count 2.   

I do agree that there was additional credit time served.  So 

the total amount of credit time served in the case is going to be 2,000 

-- excuse me, 3,278 days.   

There is also a $25 administrative fee, $150 DNA fee as 

well.  But I think this predated a lot of the other fees and 

assessments.   

All right, guys.   
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MS. MANINGO:  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  Thank you all very much for your time today.  

I appreciate it.    

MS. MANINGO:  Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  

MR. YANEZ:  There is one other matter.  We have counsel, 

Jamie Resch, who is going to be doing the direct appeal on this case.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. YANEZ:  So I don't know if we -- if you want us to 

submit an official withdrawal motion from me and Ms. Maningo or is 

this --  

THE COURT:  Did you guys talk to Drew? 

MR. YANEZ:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. YANEZ:  Drew is the one who contacted him and 

made sure he was here today.  

THE COURT:  Go it.  And you can accept the appointment? 

MR. RESCH:  I can.  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So we will -- you just want to orally 

move to withdraw?   

MR. YANEZ:  Yes.  

MS. MANINGO:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  All right.  So we'll grant the oral motion to 

withdraw from Mr. Yanez and Ms. Maningo.  We'll appoint Mr. Resch 

to pursue direct appeal.  Okay? 
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MR. RESCH:  Thank you, Judge.   

THE COURT:  Yeah, just go ahead and submit a written 

order that shows that that took place today just so we're kind of 

dotting Is and crossing T's.   

MS. MANINGO:  Okay.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  

MR. YANEZ:  Appreciate it.  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

                  [Proceeding adjourned at 10:47 a.m.] 

                                 * * * * * * * * 
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